
AGENDA 
 

CANFIELD CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING 

     September 3, 2025-5:30 P.M. 
 

FRANCIS J. McLAUGHLIN MUNICIPAL BUILDING 
 
 
1. Call to Order. 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
3. Roll Call:  Quorum is Present - Meeting is in Session. 
 
4. Proclamations & Presentations.   
      
5. Approval of Minutes. 
 
6. Reading of Communications. 
 
7. Reports of Committees, Boards, Mayor’s Report, City Manager, Finance Director, Chief of Police, 

Zoning Inspector and Public Works Superintendent. 
 
8. Public questions from residents (or representative) related to the above referenced reports. Questions 

may be limited to three (3) minutes. 
 
9. Recognition of Persons Desiring to Appear Before Council. 
 
10.  OLD BUSINESS 
  Note: After each item is placed on the table for action, public comments from residents (or 

representative) as to that business item are received.  May be limited to three (3) minutes per person 
and thirty (30) minutes total. 

 
A. An Ordinance Amending the Sign Regulations of the City of Canfield. 

 
Description:  This Ordinance addresses changes to the sign regulation, specifically 
violation for temporary signage. 
 
Action Needed:  Passage of this Ordinance.  
 
Attachment(s); Changes to the Sign Regulations.  
 
Public Comments  

 
 
11. NEW BUSINESS 

Note: After each item is placed on the table for action, public comments from residents (or 
representative) as to that business item are received.  May be limited to three (3) minutes per person 
and thirty (30) minutes total. 

 
 

A. An Ordinance Authorizing the Expansion of a Non-Conforming Use at 209 E. 

Main Street by David Tucci. 

 

Description: Mr. Tucci already has two accessory buildings on his property; 

which is non-conforming.  He wants to expand one of the accessory structures (a 

shed) and add 8 feet to the front of his shed.  Planning & Zoning held a public 

hearing on 8-14-25 and they recommended it to council.  Codified Ordinance 

Section 1165.02(G) allows for the expansion of a non-conforming use.   

 

Action Needed: Passage of this Ordinance.  

 



Attachment(s):  Recommendation from P&Z 

 

Public Comments 

 

B. An Ordinance Amending Chapter 919 of Canfield Code Title” Rights of Way 

Ordinance”. 

 Description: See Mark 

 

 Action Needed: 

 

 Attachment(s):  

 

Public Comments 

 

C. An Ordinance Authorizing the City Manager to Sign A Contract for Health 

Services with the Mahoning County General Health District for the City of 

Canfield. 

 

Description: Ohio Revised Code establishes appropriate regulations and 
requirements for health districts.  The City of Canfield desires to contract health district 
related services through an agreement with the Mahoning County General Health 
District.  
 

The agreement being considered is for the Mahoning County General Health 

District to provide like kind health services beginning January 2026 and 

terminating in December of 2028. 

 

Action Needed: Passage of Ordinance.  

 

Attachment(s): 2026-2028 City of Canfield Health Service Contract 

 

D. A Resolution Accepting the Amounts and Rates as Determined by the Budget 

Commission and Authorizing the Necessary Tax Levies and Certifying them to 

the County Auditor.  

 

Description: In accordance with state law, the City of Canfield must accept the 
amounts and rates as determined by the budget commission and authorize the 
necessary tax levies and certify them to the County Auditor. This resolution accepts 
the amounts and rates, authorizes the necessary tax levies and certifies them to the 
County Auditor as indicated in the resolution.  

 
Action Needed: Approval of Resolution  

 

Attachment(s):   

 

Public Comments 

 

E. A Resolution of the Council of the City of Canfield, Ohio Authorizing the 

Mahoning County Auditor’s Office to Assess Properties within the City of 

Canfield.  

 

Description: The Mahoning County Auditor’s Office is requiring a Resolution be 

passed by Council in order to Assess Properties for streetlights, lawn mowing, 

etc.  

 

Action Needed: Passage of this Resolution and submission to the Auditor’s 

Office  

 

Attachment(s):  List of Assessments. 

Public Comments 

 

12. Council Comments 

 

13. Adjournment 



Introduced by: ____________ 
First Reading: _____________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING 
THE SIGN REGULATIONS OF THE CITY OF CANFIELD 

 
 WHEREAS, the Council of the City of Canfield has determined it to be in the best 
interest of the citizens of the City to amend Chapter 1183 of the Codified Ordinance of the 
City; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the amendment specifically addresses violations of Chapter 1183 related 
to temporary signage and the enforcement of the ordinance related to such violations.  
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CANFIELD, OHIO: 
 
Section1:  That Chapter 1183, specifically section 1183.99 of the Codified Ordinances of the 
City of Canfield shall be amended to read as attached hereto. 
 
Section2: That this Ordinance and all deliberations relating to the passage of this Ordinance 
were held in open meetings of this Council, all pursuant to Section 121.22 of the Ohio 
Revised Code and Section 3.11 of the Charter of the Municipality of Canfield.  
 
      _____________________________ 
      PRESIDENT OF COUNCIL  
 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________ 
CLERK OF COUNCIL  
 

Certification of Publication 
 

I, the undersigned, Clerk of the City of Canfield, Ohio, hereby certify that the foregoing 
Ordinance was posted in a prominent place at the Municipal Building, Canfield, Ohio for 
seven continuous days, to-wit: _________________________________________ 
___________________________________________________________________. 
 
       ________________________ 
       CLERK OF COUNCIL  
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
______________________________ 
MUNICIPAL ATTORNEY 



















































Introduced by: ______________ 
First Reading: _______________ 

ORDINANCE 

AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE EXPANSION OF A  
NON-CONFORMING USE AT 209 E. MAIN STREET BY DAVID TUCCI 

WHEREAS, Council has provided a method to expand non-conforming uses  
within the City in accordance with the provisions of Canfield Codified Ordinance Section 
1165.02(g); and 

WHEREAS, David Tucci has applied for an expansion of the non-conforming use on the 
property that is at 209 E. Main by way of adding to an existing building; and 

WHEREAS, Planning and Zoning Commission acting as the Board of Appeals has 
recommended said expansion. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CANFIELD, OHIO: 

Section 1:  The request of David Tucci for expanding a non-conforming use at 209 E. 
Main Street is hereby approved in accordance with Canfield Codified Ordinance Section 
1165.02(g). 

Section 2:  Said expansion shall consist of adding to a structure measuring 16X12 
expanding to 24x12. 

Section 3:  That this Ordinance and all deliberations relating to the passage of this 
Ordinance were held in open meetings of this Council, all pursuant to Section 121.22 of the 
Ohio Revised Code and Section 3.11 of the Charter of the Municipality of Canfield. 

PASSED IN COUNCIL THIS _____________DAY OF ______________________A.D., 2025. 

_____________________ 
PRESIDENT OF COUNCIL 

ATTEST: 

__________________ 
CLERK OF COUNCIL 

Certification of Publication 

I, the undersigned Clerk of Council of the City of Canfield, Ohio, hereby certify that the 
foregoing Ordinance was posted in a prominent place at the Municipal Building, Canfield, Ohio 
for seven continuous days, to-wit:___________________________________________ 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

____________________ 
CLERK OF COUNCIL 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

_____________________ 
MUNICIPAL ATTORNEY 



City of Canfield 
104 LISBON STREET 

CANFIELD, OHIO 44406-1416 
  

Phone: 330-533-1101 
Admin. Fax: 330-533-4415 
Finance Fax: 330-533-2668 

www.canfield.gov 

 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DATE:  August 18, 2025 
 
TO: Members of Council 
 
FROM:  PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
 
SUBJECT:  A RECOMMENDATION TO COUNCIL FOR AN ADJUSTMENT TO CANFIELD CODIFIED 
ORDINANCE SECTION 1165.02(G) FOR AN ADDITION TO A SHED AT 209 E. MAIN ST. THAT 
WOULD BE CONSIDERED AN ALTERATION OF A NON-CONFORMING STRUCTURE. ZONED R-1 
 
At the regular meeting of the Planning and Zoning Commission on August 14, 2025, the 
following motion was made: 
 
Mr. Decapua made a motion to recommend to Council to approve the adjustment to Canfield 
Codified Ordinance 1165.02(G) for an addition to a shed at 209 E. Main Street that would be 
considered an alteration of a non-conforming structure. Zoned R-1. 
 
The motion was seconded by Mr. Palermo 
 
The motion passed 5-0. 
 



Page | 1 

Introduced by: ___________ 
First Reading: ____________ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPER 919 OF  
CANFIELD CODE TITLE “RIGHTS OF WAY ORDINANCE”. 

 WHEREAS, Council desires to amend the regulations for use of “City Right of Ways”. Section 

1: Chapter 919 of Canfield Code is hereby amended and shall read as follows: 

CHAPTER 919 

Rights-of-Way Ordinance 

919.01   Short title. 

919.02   Definitions. 

919.03   Purpose. 

919.04   Construction and repair of facilities. 

919.05   Obstruction of rights-of-way. 

919.06   Application for rights-of-way construction permits. 

919.07   Issuance of rights-of-way construction permits. 

919.08   Rights-of-way construction permit fees. 

919.09   Location of facilities. 

919.10   Restoration of rights-of-way. 

919.11   Relocation of facilities. 

919.12   Temporary movement of facilities. 

919.13   Tree trimming. 

919.14   Joint planning and cooperation. 

919.15   Erection and common use of poles and ducts. 

919.16   Safety requirements. 

919.17   Maps. 

919.18   Indemnification. 

919.19   No recourse. 

919.20   Liability insurance and bonds. 

919.21   Written notice. 

919.22   Severability. 

919.23   Removal of facilities. 

919.24   Revocation of permit. 

919.25   Reservation of rights. 

919.26   Non-enforcement and waivers by City. 

919.27   Captions. 

919.28   Application to City. 

919.99   Penalty. 

919.01 SHORT TITLE. 

   This chapter shall be known and may be cited as the “Rights-of-way Ordinance”. 

(Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.02 DEFINITIONS. 

   For the purposes of this chapter, the following terms, phrases, words, and their derivations 

shall have the meaning given herein. When not inconsistent with the context, words used in 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19257#JD_919.01
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19261#JD_919.02
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19274#JD_919.03
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19278#JD_919.04
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19284#JD_919.05
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19288#JD_919.06
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19319#JD_919.07
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19328#JD_919.08
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19333#JD_919.09
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19343#JD_919.10
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19346#JD_919.11
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19350#JD_919.12
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19353#JD_919.13
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19357#JD_919.14
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19365#JD_919.15
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19371#JD_919.16
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19388#JD_919.17
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19391#JD_919.18
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19402#JD_919.19
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19410#JD_919.20
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19426#JD_919.21
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19429#JD_919.22
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19433#JD_919.23
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19438#JD_919.24
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19444#JD_919.25
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19450#JD_919.26
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19454#JD_919.27
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19458#JD_919.28
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19462#JD_919.99


 
 

Page | 2 
 

the present tense include the future, words in the plural number include the singular number, 

and words in the singular number include the plural number. 

   (a)   “Cable operator” has the same meaning as in Section 2 of the “Cable Communications 

Policy Act of 1984,” 96 Stat. 2779, 47 U.S.C.A. 522, as amended. 

   (b)   “City” means the entire City of Canfield, Ohio as the same now or in the future may 

exist. 

   (c)   “Facilities” means the current or future utility poles, wires, cables, lines, guys, anchors, 

manholes, vaults, pipes, conduits, ducts, pedestals, antennas, transformers, crossbars, 

repeaters, hubs, routers, and other equipment and related appurtenances owned, controlled or 

used by cable operators and utility service providers. 

   (d)   “Force majeure” means a strike, Acts of God, acts of public enemies, riots, epidemics, 

landslides, lightning, earthquakes, fires, tornadoes, storms, floods, washouts, droughts, civil 

disturbances, explosions, partial or entire failure of utilities, or orders of any kind of a 

government of the United States of America or of the State of Ohio or any of their 

departments, agencies, political subdivisions or any other cause or event not reasonably 

within the control of the disabled party. 

   (e)   “Grantee” means a person to whom a rights-of-way construction permit is granted, and 

its agents, employees and contractors. 

   (f)   “Person” means an individual, firm, corporation, limited liability company, partnership, 

proprietorship, association, or legal entity or organization of any kind. 

   (g)   “Rights-of-way” means the surface, the air space above the surface, and the area below 

the surface, including the entire width, of any public streets, highways, roadways, avenues, 

lanes, alleys, courts, places, curbs, sidewalks, rights-of-way, or other public ways in the City 

which have been or may hereafter be dedicated to or otherwise acquired by the City. 

   (h)   “Rights-of-way construction permit” means a permit issued pursuant to this chapter 

which authorizes the grantee the right to construct or place facilities in the rights-of-way 

subject to and in accordance with this chapter. 

   (i)   “Utility service provider” means a natural gas company, local exchange telephone 

company, internet telecommunications company, electric company, or any other entity that 

occupies a public way to deliver water, sanitary service, storm sewer, natural gas, electric or 

telecommunications services. 

      (Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.03 PURPOSE. 

   The purpose of this chapter is to manage and administer the impacts of utility service 

providers and other person's use of the rights-of-way. 

(Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.04 CONSTRUCTION AND REPAIR OF FACILITIES. 

   (a)   No utility service provider, cable operator, or person shall construct, install, or place 

facilities in the rights-of-way without prior consent of the City, which consent shall be set 

forth in a rights-of-way construction permit issued by the City as provided in 

Section 919.07 of this chapter. 

   (b)   A utility service provider, cable operator or person seeking to repair, maintain, 

construct, install, or place facilities in the rights-of-way in a manner that requires cutting, 

breaking, opening, boring under, or altering street pavement, or digging, excavating, or 

performing any other work or activity which disturbs the existing surface or subsurface 

structure, composition, or soil compaction of the rights-of-way shall submit such plans as the 

City may reasonably require to the City for its approval. 

(Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/canfield/latest/canfield_oh/0-0-0-19319#JD_919.07


 
 

Page | 3 
 

919.05 OBSTRUCTION OF RIGHTS-OF-WAY OR USE OF CITY FACILITIES 

PROHIBITED. 

   No utility service provider, cable operator, or person shall (i) obstruct or place obstructing 

materials in the rights-of-way without prior consent of the City, which consent shall be set 

forth in a permit issued by the City; provided however, utility service providers and cable 

operators may place temporarily trucks, cones, pumps, ventilating equipment, trailers, guards, 

and other facilities in the rights-of-way in order to enter existing manholes and other 

underground structures to perform routine repair and maintenance of their facilities which 

repairs and maintenance do not require cutting, breaking, opening, boring under, or altering 

street pavement, or digging, excavating, or performing any other work or activity which 

disturbs or alters the existing surface, subsurface, structure, composition, or soil 

compaction of the rights-of-way or (ii) place, construct or otherwise impact any (a) utility line 

owned by or maintained by the City, or (b) lateral utility lines on any property.  No 

construction or installation shall occur within 4 feet of any City owned utility lines or related 

laterals In no event shall the rights-of-way be obstructed for more than twelve (12) hours in 

any twenty-four (24) hour period without prior consent of the City set forth in a permit issued 

by the City and in no event shall traffic be obstructed on more than one-half of any public 

street at any one time. 

(Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.06 APPLICATION FOR RIGHTS-OF-WAY CONSTRUCTION PERMITS. 

   (a)   Any utility service provider, cable operator or person seeking to obtain a right-of-

 way construction permit shall file an application with the City Manager. The application shall 

be in such form as the City Manager directs, but at a minimum shall be signed by such utility 

service provider, cable operator or person, or a duly authorized agent thereof; shall 

incorporate, directly or by reference, the terms of this chapter; shall set forth the applicant’s 

consent to an agreement to comply with the terms of the application, chapter, and the rights-

of-way permit; and shall require the applicant to provide the following information: 

      (1)   The name, address and telephone number of both applicant and its agent upon whom 

service can be made and notices provided; 

      (2)    A statement as to the nature of the applicant's business, whether its operations and 

facilities are subject to regulation by the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio or federal 

regulatory agency, and whether it is certified or authorized by the Public Utilities 

Commission of Ohio to provide service in Ohio; 

      (3)    Location of the proposed construction; 

      (4)   Type of facility to be installed or constructed; 

      (5)    Method of construction, installation, or placement to be used; 

      (6)    Estimated time to complete construction; 

      (7)   Whether street pavement will be cut, broken, opened, or bored under; 

      (8)    Whether traffic will be obstructed and, if so the portion of the rights-of-way 

obstructed and the dates of the obstruction; 

      (9)    Proposed means of restoring the rights-of-way; 

      (10)    A statement describing how traffic flow will be maintained during the construction 

period; and 

      (11)    A description of the purpose and use of the facilities constructed, installed, or 

placed in the rights-of-way (power with voltage, gas with maximum allowable operating 

pressure, etc.) and other pertinent details. 

   (b)   If the applicant is not certified or authorized by the Public Utilities 

Commission of Ohio to provide service in Ohio, the applicant shall also submit such 

additional information as the City Manager requests to determine the financial, technical and 



 
 

Page | 4 
 

managerial expertise of the applicant to construct, operate and maintain facilities in the right-

of-way. 

   (c)   Applicants shall also submit, as an attachment to their application, scale drawings 

showing completely the nature, location, construction materials and design of the facilities to 

be installed or constructed. Such drawings shall include: 

      (1)   Street and/or road names; 

      (2)   A north arrow; 

      (3)    The offset, in feet and inches, from the centerline of the roadway to the proposed 

facilities to be constructed or installed; 

      (4)   The rights-of-way limits; 

      (5)   The pavement width; 

      (6)   The distance from edge of pavement to the facilities being constructed, installed or 

placed; 

      (7)   The distance from nearest major intersection, railroad crossing, and/or other physical 

features to the facilities being constructed, installed or placed; 

      (8)   A description of the nature of the facilities and the materials to be used in their 

construction, including without limitation and where applicable, the number, size, dimensions, 

and composition of the pipes, conduits and ducts, poles and other supporting structures, 

manholes and vaults, cable and wire and other facilities indicating that all such items shall be 

placed underground except as may be specifically approved in writing by the City Manager; 

      (9)   One or more typical cross sections as required to adequately display and demonstrate 

the size of the utilization, the capacity of the facilities, the proposed location of the facilities 

in the rights-of-way and in relation to the existing facilities of the City, cable operators, and 

other utility service providers, however, if only aerial facilities requiring no additional poles 

are to be constructed, placed or installed, then only aerial facilities need be shown on the 

permit drawing; 

      (10)   The minimum vertical clearance above or below the pavement or the existing or 

finished grade; and 

      (11)   The location, in relation to the facilities to be constructed, placed or installed, of all 

known, existing utilities in the rights-of-way indicating a distance of at least 4’ from all 

existing utility service lines. 

   (d)   The City Manager shall determine which drawings, if any, shall be certified by an 

engineer registered in the State of Ohio. (Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.07 ISSUANCE OF RIGHTS-OF-WAY CONSTRUCTION PERMITS. 

   (a)   The City Manager shall forward a complete copy of the application and associated 

information and drawings to the City Engineer. If the City Manager and City Engineer 

determine that the application for the rights-of-way construction permit is complete and all 

required information and drawings have been provided, they shall review such information 

and drawings, and approve the application and issue the applicant a rights-of-way 

construction permit authorizing the construction, placement, or installation of the facilities in 

the rights-of-way upon their determinations that proposed construction, placement, or 

installation of the facilities is consistent with and meets the requirements of this chapter and 

all applicable building and safety code requirements, and that the applicant possesses the 

financial, technical and managerial expertise to construct, operate and maintain facilities in 

the rights-of-way. If the applicant is certified or authorized by the Public Utilities 

Commission of Ohio to provide service in Ohio, applicant shall be presumed to have such 

expertise. 



 
 

Page | 5 
 

   (b)   The City Manager and City Engineer shall approve or reject the application within 

thirty (30) days of applicant’s filing a completed application setting forth all required 

information, drawings and exhibits. 

   (c)   The permit shall be signed by the City Manager and City Engineer and by the grantee 

or grantee’s duly authorized agent or representative and shall set forth the grantee’s consent 

and agreement to the terms of the permit. 

   (d)   The permit shall be in the form required by the City Manager, and shall include in its 

terms the provisions of this chapter which set out the duties and obligations of grantees 

hereunder. (Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

   (e)  No term of any permit granted herein shall be in excess of the time period 

recommended by the City Engineer after which, the Cable Operator must renew such permit 

by complying with the provisions herein regarding new installation. 

919.08 RIGHTS-OF-WAY CONSTRUCTION PERMIT FEES. 

   Upon grantee’s acceptance of the rights-of-way construction permit, grantee shall pay to the 

City a rights-of-way construction permit fee in an amount which the City Manager determines 

to permit the City to recover the direct incremental costs incurred by the City in inspecting 

and reviewing the application and associated information and drawings, and in approving 

such permit. Cable Operators shall be responsible for all inspection fees incurred by the City 

related to their project in a Right of Way.  If a cable operator fails to obtain a Permit as 

required herein, prior to commencing work in the Right of Way it shall pay the applicable 

Permit fee and a penalty equal to the amount of the Permit Fee. 

(Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.09 LOCATION OF FACILITIES. 

   (a)    Grantee shall construct, place and install its facilities as set forth in its application and 

so as to not interfere with travel and proper use of streets, alleys, and other public ways and 

places by the public and to not interfere with the rights and reasonable 

convenience of property owners who adjoin any of the said streets, alleys or other 

public ways and places. Grantee's use of the rights-of-way shall be secondary to the use 

thereof by the traveling public (including pedestrians and other proper public uses). Damage 

to and repair of pedestals, vaults, manholes or other facilities of the grantee in the rights-of-

way caused by street plowing, street cleaning and other activities carried out by the City to 

facilitate such travel and public use shall be the responsibility of the grantee and no claim may 

be made against the City in respect thereto. 

   (b)    In all sections of the City where the cables, wires, or other like facilities of public 

utilities are placed above or underground, grantee shall place its cables, wires or other like 

facilities above or underground. 

   (c)    Grantee shall construct, place and install its facilities so that cables, wires, poles and 

other facilities shall conform to the pattern of the existing public utility cables, wires, poles 

and other facilities and to minimize any damage, destruction or disturbance of the rights-of-

way (including trees, shrubbery and improvements located thereon). 

   (d)    Grantee shall relocate, either overhead or underground, its cables, wires, poles or other 

facilities when the City determines that such relocation is necessary for public travel upon and 

use of the rights-of-way. 

(Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.10 RESTORATION OF RIGHTS-OF-WAY. 

   In case of damage, destruction or disturbance of any street, sidewalk, alley, public way, 

paved area, tree lawn or other portion of the rights-of-way (including trees, shrubbery, and 

improvements thereon) by grantee, grantee shall, without delay and at its own cost and 

expense and in a manner approved by the City Engineer, replace and restore such street, 



 
 

Page | 6 
 

sidewalk, alley, public way, paved area, or portion of the rights-of-way (including trees, 

shrubbery, and improvements thereon) to its former state of usefulness, repair and condition, 

paved, seeded, mulched, replanted, or sodded in a manner and with the same type, quality, and 

condition of materials that will match those damaged, destroyed or disturbed and those of the 

adjacent property so that disturbed area is in as good a condition as before the work involving 

such disturbance was done. In the event grantee, after ten (10) days advance notice, fails or 

refuses to commence, pursue and complete such replacement and restoration work, the City 

shall have the authority, but not the obligation, to complete such restoration and to require 

grantee to pay to the City the cost of such restoration. In the event that the restoration of the 

disturbed area, or the area adjacent thereto, deteriorates at a faster rate than that which would 

have occurred had grantee not damaged, destroyed or disturbed the area, then in that event, 

grantee shall repair, replace, or restore such areas to their original condition prior to the 

disturbance. Any such deterioration occurring within the five (5) year period following the 

disturbance will be presumed to result from grantee's actions and disturbance of the area. Any 

trees in the disturbed area or the area adjacent thereto that die within said five (5) year period 

will be presumed to have died as a result of grantee's actions and disturbance of the area. 

(Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.11 RELOCATION OF FACILITIES. 

   If the City shall elect to alter or change the grade of any street, sidewalk, alley or other 

public way, or to change the location of or engage in the construction, reconstruction, 

maintenance or repair of any public property, structure or facility, or to engage in any public 

improvements, and if as a result thereof it is deemed necessary by the City for grantee to 

move, relocate, change, alter or modify any of its facilities or structures in order to assure the 

public’s unencumbered continued use of the rights-of-way for travel and other proper public 

uses, then in such event and upon reasonable written notice of not less than sixty (60) days, 

grantee at its sole cost shall promptly move, relocate, change, alter or modify its facilities. In 

the event grantee, after such notice, fails or refuses to commence, pursue and complete such 

relocation work within a reasonable time, the City shall have the authority, but not the 

obligation, to move, remove, relocate, change, alter, modify or abate such structures or 

facilities and to require grantee to pay to the City the cost of such relocation, alteration, or 

modification. In the event of an emergency which threatens the health or safety of the public 

requires the relocation, alteration, or removal of the facilities, the City will attempt to notify 

promptly the grantee and Grantee shall have the right to move, alter, or remove the facilities 

from the rights-of-way. 

(Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.12 TEMPORARY MOVEMENT OF FACILITIES. 

   Grantee shall, on the request of any person holding an appropriate permit issued by the City, 

temporarily raise or lower its wires to permit the moving of buildings. The expense of such 

temporary removal or raising or lowering of wires shall be paid by the person requesting the 

same, and grantee shall have the authority to require such payment in advance. Grantee shall 

be given not less than ten (10) business days advance notice to arrange for such temporary 

wire changes. (Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.13 TREE TRIMMING. 

   Subject to applicable City Ordinances, grantee shall have the authority to trim trees upon 

and overhanging streets, alleys, sidewalks, and public ways and places of the City so as to 

prevent the branches of such trees from coming in contact with the wires, cables and 

equipment of the grantee, except that at the option of the City, such trimming may be done by 

it or under its supervision and direction at the expense of the grantee. 

(Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 



 
 

Page | 7 
 

919.14 JOINT PLANNING AND COOPERATION. 

   (a)    Grantee shall cooperate with other grantees and the City for the best, safest, most 

efficient, most aesthetic and least obtrusive use of the rights-of-way, to minimize traffic and 

other disruptions including street cuts, and to achieve the most efficient utilization of, 

construction in and occupancy of the rights-of-way. Grantee shall not be required to divulge 

trade secrets or other competitively sensitive confidential information the release of which 

would cause material injury to the grantee. Any confidential information of a grantee in the 

possession of the City will be treated as such, to the extent determined legally appropriate by 

the City's Law Director. 

   (b)    Grantee shall participate in all joint planning conferences called by the City to discuss 

construction projects and other matters impacting the rights-of-way. Such participation may 

be by telephone if suitable arrangements are made in advance. 

   (c)    Grantee shall cooperate with other grantees in utilization of, construction in and 

occupancy of private rights-of-way within the City, but only to the extent the same is 

consistent with the grant thereof, is not additionally burdensome to any property owner or 

unreasonably burdensome to the grantee; provided, however, that nothing in this section shall 

be construed to require expenditure of funds or rearrangement of facilities by a grantee 

without fair compensation. 

(Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.15 ERECTION AND COMMON USE OF POLES AND DUCTS. 

   (a)    Where utility poles, underground conduits or ducts or other wire-holding structures or 

facilities already exist and are reasonably available for use by the grantee, grantee shall use 

such poles, conduits, ducts, structures or facilities to install its cable, wires, and equipment. 

Where such poles, conduits, ducts, structures, or facilities are not reasonably available, the 

grantee shall have the right to construct, install, erect and maintain its own poles, conduits, 

ducts, structures or facilities at locations as it may find necessary for the proper construction, 

operation or maintenance thereof. Such poles, conduits, ducts, structures or facilities shall be 

identified and set out in the drawings submitted with grantee's application and City 

approval of the grantee's application shall constitute its approval of the construction, 

installation and erection of those identified poles, conduits, ducts, structures and facilities. 

Grantee shall comply with such conditions as the City may impose in approving the 

application and granting any final authorization to so construct, install, locate and erect the 

poles, conduits, ducts, structures or facilities. 

   (b)    Grantee shall make available to other attaching parties any usable space on its poles or 

in its underground structures on the same terms and conditions as other grantees make space 

available on their poles or in their underground structures. Where the City or a public utility 

serving the City desires to make use of the conduits, ducts, poles or other wire- holding 

structures of the grantee, but agreement therefor cannot be reached, if the City determines that 

the use would enhance the public safety or convenience and would not unduly interfere with 

the grantee's operations, the City may require the grantee to permit such use on the same 

terms and conditions as other grantees make space available in their conduits or ducts or on 

their poles or structures. 

(Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.16 SAFETY REQUIREMENTS. 

   (a)    Grantee shall at all times employ ordinary care and shall construct, install, place, locate 

and maintain its facilities using commonly accepted methods and devices for preventing 

failures and accidents which are likely to cause damage, injuries, or nuisances to the public. 

   (b)   Grantee shall construct, install, place, locate and maintain its facilities in such manner 

that they will not interfere with any installations of the City or other grantees, and in 



 
 

Page | 8 
 

accordance with good engineering practices and, where applicable, the requirements of the 

National Electrical Safety Code, the rules and regulations of the Public Utilities 

Commission of Ohio, the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, and all applicable 

ordinances and regulations of the City affecting electrical and structural installations which 

may currently be in effect or changed by future ordinances, and all other applicable state or 

federal construction and safety requirements. 

   (c)   Grantee's facilities in, over, under, and upon the streets, sidewalks, alleys, and 

public ways or places of the City, wherever situated or located, shall at all times be kept and 

maintained in a safe, suitable, substantial condition, and in good order and repair. 

   (d)   Grantee shall at all times maintain a force of available employees or agents sufficient to 

provide safe, adequate, and prompt maintenance and repair of its facilities. Such employees or 

agents shall perform all work, construction, maintenance or removal of structures and 

facilities within the rights-of-way, including tree trimming, in accordance with good 

engineering, construction and safety practices, including any applicable safety codes. 

   (e)   Grantee shall register, or cause to be registered, its facilities with the Ohio Utility 

Protection Service or any successor thereto. 

   (f)   Grantee shall cooperate with the City in any emergencies involving the rights-of- way. 

   (g)   Grantee shall field identify, using distinct identification, its facilities constructed, 

installed, placed or located in rights-of-way. Such identification shall be consistent with 

industry standards for such identification. 

   (h)   Grantee shall designate a single point of contact for reporting of emergencies and 

conditions affecting the safety of the public. (Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.17 MAPS. 

   Upon request of the City, Grantee shall provide and maintain with the City a true and 

accurate map or set of maps showing the location of all grantee’s facilities in the rights-of-

way and other public places (“As Builts”). (Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.18 INDEMNIFICATION. 

   (a)   Grantee shall, at its sole cost and expense, fully defend, indemnify and hold harmless 

the City, its officers, boards, commissions, agents and employees, against and from any and 

all claims, demands, causes of actions, suits, proceedings, damages, liabilities, penalties and 

judgements of every kind arising out of or pertaining to the City’s granting a rights-of-way 

construction permit to grantee and/or the construction, maintenance or operation of grantee’s 

facilities including, but not limited to, damages for injury or death, or damages to property, 

real or personal, and against all liabilities to others and against all loss, cost and expense, 

resulting or arising out of any of the same. 

   (b)   Grantee shall pay all expenses incurred by the City in defending itself with regard to 

the claims, causes of action, suits, proceedings, damages, liabilities, penalties and judgments 

mentioned in subsection (a) above. These expenses shall include but are not limited to all out-

of- pocket expenses, such as attorney’s fees, and shall also include the reasonable value of any 

services rendered by the City’s Law Director or his assistants, or any employees of the City. 

   (c)   For the City to assert its rights to be defended, indemnified and held harmless, the City 

must: 

      (1)   Notify grantee of any claim or legal proceeding which gives rise to such right; 

      (2)   Afford grantee the opportunity to participate in any compromise, settlement, 

resolution or disposition of such claim or proceeding; and 

      (3)   Cooperate in the defense of such claim and make available to grantee all such 

information under its control reasonably relating thereto. 

         (Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.19 NO RECOURSE. 



 
 

Page | 9 
 

   (a)   Except as expressly provided in this chapter, grantee shall have no recourse whatsoever 

against the City for any loss, cost or expense, or damages arising out of the provisions or 

requirements of this chapter or the rights-of-way construction permit, or because of the 

enforcement thereof by the City, or for the failure of the City to have the authority to grant all 

or any part of the rights-of-way construction permit. 

   (b)   Grantee shall acknowledge, upon executing and accepting a rights-of-way construction 

permit, that it does so relying upon its own investigation and understanding of the power and 

authority of the City to grant such a permit. 

   (c)   Grantee shall further acknowledge, upon executing the rights-of-way construction 

permit, that it has carefully read the terms and conditions of this chapter and the form of the 

rights-of-way construction permit, and grantee is willing to and does accept all of the 

risks of the meaning of the terms and conditions contained therein, and agrees that in the 

event of any ambiguity or in the event of any other dispute over the meaning thereof, the same 

shall be construed strictly against grantee and in favor of the City. 

(Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.20 LIABILITY INSURANCE AND BONDS. 

   (a)    Grantee shall maintain, throughout the period of construction and for so long as the 

facilities constructed, placed, installed or located occupy the rights-of-way or other public 

place, liability insurance insuring the City and the grantee with regard to all damages as 

follows: 

      (1)    One million dollars ($1,000,000) for bodily injury or death to any one person; 

      (2)    Three million dollars ($3,000,000) for bodily injury or death resulting from any one 

accident or occurrence; 

      (3)    Five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000) for property damage to any single 

property; and 

      (4)    Three million dollars ($3,000,000) for excess liability or umbrella coverage. 

   (b)    Grantee shall furnish to the City certificates of insurance evidencing grantee's 

compliance with this section. All insurance required by this chapter shall be and remain in full 

force and effect for the entire term of this chapter. Such insurance, if canceled for any reason, 

shall immediately be put back in force subject to the terms and requirements specified herein. 

   (c)    Any insurance policy obtained by the grantee to comply with this section must be 

approved by the City's Law Director, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, and 

a certificate of insurance and a duplicate copy of said insurance policy, along with written 

evidence of payment of required premiums, shall be filed and maintained with the 

Clerk of Council during the term of this chapter. Such insurance may be changed from time to 

time to reflect changing liability limits as may be reasonably requested by the City, but not 

below the minimum established herein. Grantee shall immediately notify the City in 

writing of any litigation that may develop that would affect the insurance required herein. 

   (d)    Upon acceptance of the rights-of-way construction permit, grantee shall deposit with 

the City a surety bond in the amount of fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) in a form reasonably 

acceptable to the City's Law Director; provided, however, that the City Manager, in his/her 

sole discretion, may waive, reduce the amount of the bond or require an additional amount to 

be so bonded. The performance bond shall be available to insure the faithful performance by 

grantee of all provisions of the rights-of-way construction permit. The performance bond shall 

be maintained at fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) during the entire term of this chapter, 

regardless of withdrawals which may be made under this section. The performance bond shall 

be conditioned upon and insure the faithful performance of grantee of all terms and 

conditions of the rights-of-way construction permit and the payment by grantee of any claim, 

liens, costs, expenses and taxes due the City which arise by reason of the construction, repair 



 
 

Page | 10 
 

or maintenance of grantee’s facilities in the rights-of-way or other public place. 

The rights reserved to the City with respect to the performance bond are in addition to all 

other rights the City may have under this chapter or any law. The company providing such 

bond must be licensed to do business in the State of Ohio. In the event of a default by grantee 

in any of its obligations under the rights-of-way construction permit which default is not 

cured within ten (10) days after notice by the City to grantee of such default (or such longer 

time as it is necessary to cure, so long as grantee commences to cure within ten (10) days and 

diligently pursues cure), the City may levy on the performance bond upon notifying 

grantee of the amount of such charge. Grantee may contest in good faith any dispute with 

respect to any levy by the City on the performance bond. The rights reserved to the City with 

respect to the performance bond are in addition to all other rights of the City, at law or in 

equity. The performance bond provided hereunder shall contain the following endorsement: 

   “It is hereby understood and agreed that this bond may not be canceled without thirty (30) 

days advance written notice to the City of Canfield, Ohio.” 

   (e)    Upon written request of the grantee, and upon approval of the City Manager, grantees 

who maintain a net book value in excess of fifty million dollars ($50,000,000) may self- 

insure and self-bond in lieu of maintaining and providing the policies of insurance and bonds 

described above. Such grantees shall provide to the City Manager such certificates or other 

documents attesting to such book value, insurance and bonding as the City Manager may 

reasonably request. (Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.21 WRITTEN NOTICE. 

   All notices or demands required to be given under the rights-of-way construction permit or 

this chapter shall be deemed to be given when delivered personally or upon the date actually 

received as evidenced by certified mail, return receipt requested. All notices to the City shall 

be addressed to the City Manager at the offices of the City. All notices to the grantee may be 

made and shall be in effect upon delivery to the party named in the rights-of-way construction 

permit or the party's successor. (Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.22 SEVERABILITY. 

   If any term, condition or section of this chapter or a rights-of-way construction permit or the 

application thereof to any person or circumstance shall, to any extent, be held to be invalid or 

unenforceable, the remainder hereof and the application of such term, condition or section to 

persons or circumstances other than those as to whom it shall be held invalid or unenforceable 

shall not be affected thereby, and this chapter and all the terms, conditions and sections hereof 

shall, in all other respects, continue to be effective and to be complied with. 

(Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.23 REMOVAL OF FACILITIES. 

   (a)    Grantees that intend to discontinue use of and abandon facilities constructed, placed, 

installed or located in the rights-of-way shall submit a written notice to the City Manager 

describing the portion of the facilities to be discontinued and abandoned, the plan for 

removing or securing the same, and the proposed date of abandonment, which date shall not 

be less than sixty (60) days from the date such notice is submitted to the City Manager. 

Grantees shall not abandon facilities without such notice. Grantee shall remove or secure such 

facilities if and as required by the written direction of the City Manager so long as such 

direction is issued no more than sixty (60) days from the date the notice of discontinuance or 

abandonment of facilities is submitted to the City Manager. 

   (b)    Should any grantee fail, after notice, to remove or secure the abandoned facilities, the 

City may, at its option and in addition to the imposition of any penalties or other remedies 

hereunder, undertake or cause to be undertaken any reasonable action necessary to remove or 

secure the abandoned facilities. The City shall have no liability for any damage caused by 



 
 

Page | 11 
 

such action and grantee shall be liable to the City for all reasonable costs incurred by the City 

in taking such action. (Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.24 REVOCATION OF PERMIT. 

   (a)    In addition to any other rights set out herein, the City reserves the right to revoke 

grantee's rights-of-way construction permit in the event grantee violates any material 

provision of this chapter or its rights-of-way construction permit. 

   (b)    City Manager shall give grantee thirty (30) days prior written notice of an intent to 

revoke grantee's rights-of-way construction permit. Such notice shall state the reasons for 

such action. If grantee cures the violation or other cause within the thirty (30) day notice 

period, or if grantee initiates efforts satisfactory to the City Manager to remedy the stated 

violation, the City Manager shall rescind said notice of revocation. If grantee does not cure 

the stated violation or other cause or undertake efforts satisfactory to the City Manager to 

remedy the stated violation, the City Manager may recommend that grantee's rights-of-way 

permit be revoked. After granting grantee an opportunity to be heard in person or in writing, 

the City Manager may revoke the rights-of-way construction permit. Unless otherwise 

required by law, the decision of the City Manager shall be final. 

(Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.25 RESERVATION OF RIGHTS. 

   (a)    Nothing in this chapter or any rights-of-way construction permit should be construed 

so as to grant any right or interest in any rights-of-way or public property or place. No 

approval by the City and no location of any pipe, conduit, duct, pole or structure of grantee in 

the rights-of-way shall be or give rise to any vested interest or property right in the rights-of-

way and such pipe, conduit, duct, pole or structure shall be removed or modified by grantee at 

its own expense whenever the Director of Engineering Services determines that the public's 

health, safety or welfare would be enhanced thereby. 

   (b)    Nothing in this chapter or any rights-of-way construction permit shall be construed to 

prevent the City from constructing, maintaining, repairing or relocating any City utility, 

including street lighting, communications or like facilities; grading, paving, maintaining, 

repairing, relocating or altering any street, public property or rights-of-way; or constructing, 

maintaining, relocating, or repairing any sidewalk or other public work or improvement. 

(Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.26 NON-ENFORCEMENT AND WAIVERS BY CITY. 

   Grantee shall not be relieved of its obligation to comply with any of the provisions of its 

rights-of- way construction permit or this chapter by reason of any failure of the City to 

enforce or require prompt compliance. 

(Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.27 CAPTIONS. 

   The captions and headings in this chapter are for convenience and reference purposes only 

and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this chapter. 

(Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.28 APPLICATION TO CITY. 

   The City's construction, installation, or placement of facilities or structures in the rights-of-

 way shall not be subject to this chapter. 

(Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

919.99 PENALTY. 

   For failure to comply with any provision of this chapter, the penalty shall be a civil 

forfeiture, payable to the City, in the amount of five hundred dollars ($500.00) per day for 

each day of violation. In addition, for failure to timely comply with a notice by the City 

Manager to move, remove, or rearrange facilities, an additional civil forfeiture equal to any 



 
 

Page | 12 
 

costs incurred by the City as a result of such failure, including but not limited to any penalties 

or liquidated damages charged the City by its contractors occasioned thereby, shall be 

imposed. 

(Ord. 2008-32. Passed 10-15-08.) 

 

 Section 2: That this Ordinance and all deliberations relating to the passage of this Ordinance 
were held in open meetings of this Council, all pursuant to Section 121.22 of the Ohio Revised Code 
and Section 3.11 of the Charter of the Municipality of Canfield.  
 
PASSED IN COUNCIL THIS ___________DAY OF ________________________A.D., 2025. 
 
 
      _________________________________ 
      PRESIDENT OF COUNCIL  
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________ 
CLERK OF COUNCIL  
 

Certification of Publication 
 

 I, the undersigned Clerk of Council of the City of Canfield, Ohio, hereby certify that 
the foregoing Ordinance was posted in a prominent place at the Municipal Building, Canfield, 
Ohio for seven continuous days, to-wit: _________________________________________ 
_________________________________________________________________________. 
 
       _________________________ 
       CLERK OF COUNCIL  
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
____________________________ 
MUNICIPAL ATTORNEY 
 



Introduced By: ______________________ 

First Reading: _______________________ 

 

ORDINANCE 

 

   AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE CITY 

   MANAGER TO SIGN A CONTRACT FOR 

   HEALTH SERVICES WITH THE MAHONING 

   COUNTY GENERAL HEALTH DISTRICT FOR 

          THE CITY OF CANFIELD. 

 

  WHEREAS, the State of Ohio mandates that local municipalities provide 

certain kinds of health services to its citizens; and 

 

  WHEREAS, the Mahoning County General Health District is willing and able 

to provide said health services to the City of Canfield. 

 

  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF CANFIELD, OHIO: 

 

  Section 1:  The City Manager is hereby authorized to enter into a contract for 

health services for the City of Canfield with the Mahoning County General Health District, 

effective January 1, 2026 and shall remain in full force and effect until December 31, 2028, in 

accordance with the terms of the contract attached hereto. 

 

  Section 2:  The services rendered in said health services contract are 

professional in nature, and therefore, do not require competitive bidding. 

 

  Section 3:  That this Ordinance and all deliberations relating to the passage of 

this Ordinance were held in open meetings of this Council, all pursuant to Section 121.22 of 

the Ohio Revised Code and Section 3.11 of the Charter of the Municipality of Canfield. 

 

PASSED IN COUNCIL THIS ______ DAY OF ______________________ A.D., 2025. 

 

 

       ____________________________ 

       PRESIDENT OF COUNCIL 

ATTEST: 

 

___________________ 

CLERK OF COUNCIL 

Certification of Publication 

 

  I, the undersigned Clerk of Council of the City of Canfield, hereby certify that 

the foregoing Ordinance was posted in a prominent place at the Municipal Building, Canfield, 

Ohio for seven continuous days, to-wit: _______________________________ 

___________________________________________________________ 

 

. 

       _____________________ 

       CLERK OF COUNCIL 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

__________________________ 

MUNICIPAL ATTORNEY 

 



 

 Page 1 of 2 

CONTRACTING FOR HEALTH SERVICES AS PROVIDED 
IN SECTION 3709.08 OF THE OHIO REVISED CODE 
WHERE THE CITY OF CANFIELD WILL CONTRACT 

FOR HEALTH SERVICES FROM THE 
MAHONING COUNTY GENERAL HEALTH DISTRICT 

 
 
 WHEREAS, the District Advisory Council of the Mahoning County, Ohio 
General Health District, at a regular meeting held March 11, 2025, by a majority vote 
of members representing the townships and villages did vote affirmatively on the 
question of providing public health services to the City of Canfield, Ohio and did 
authorize the Chairman of the District Advisory Council to enter into a contract with 
the City of Canfield for providing public health services therein; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Council of the Municipality of Canfield, at a regular meeting 
and by a majority vote of all members voting did vote affirmatively on the question 
of contracting with the District Advisory Council of the Mahoning County General 
Health District for providing public health services to the City of Canfield, and did 
authorize the City Manager to enter into a contract with the Chairman of the District 
Advisory Council of the Mahoning County General Health District for providing 
public health services to the City of Canfield, 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to such authority, on behalf of the District 
Advisory Council of the Mahoning County General Health District and the City 
Manager, on behalf of the City of Canfield do agree as follows: 
 
 1. The City of Canfield shall pay to the Mahoning County General Health 

District an amount equal to the amount that would normally be 
deducted from the Canfield Tax Duplicate by the County Auditor 
(currently .28 mills) for like kind of health services performed by the 
aforesaid health district. 

 
 2. That the public health services to be provided to the City shall be those 

that are required by the Ohio Revised Code and the Ohio 
Administrative Code, and all other authorized services which the 
Mahoning County General Health District provides for its district. 

 
 3. That said contract shall become effective on January 1, 2026 and shall 

remain in full force and effect until December 31, 2028. 



 

 Page 2 of 2 

 
 4. The parties hereto further agree that this contract can be rescinded by 

mutual consent at any time or by either party provided such party gives 
notice in writing ninety (90) days in advance of the 1st day of each 
calendar year. 

 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we hereunder subscribe our names. 
 
 
     District Advisory Council 
     Mahoning County General Health District 
 
 
Date: ___________________ By:  ____________________________________ 
      Chair 
 
  
 
     City of Canfield 
 
 
Date: ___________________ By:  ____________________________________ 
      City Manager 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Introduced by: ______________ 
First Reading: ______________ 

RESOLUTION 
 
   A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING THE AMOUNTS AND 
   RATES AS DETERMINED BY THE BUDGET COMMISSION 
   AND AUTHORIZING THE NECESSARY TAX LEVIES AND 
   CERTIFYING THEM TO THE COUNTY AUDITOR. 
 
  WHEREAS, the Council of the City of Canfield, Ohio, in accordance with the 
provisions of law has previously adopted a tax budget or has been granted the authority by 
the Mahoning County Budget Commission to waive this requirement for the next succeeding 
fiscal year commencing January 1, 2026; and 
 
  WHEREAS, the Budget Commission of Mahoning County, Ohio has certified its 
action thereon to this Council together with an estimate by the County Auditor of the rate of 
each tax necessary to be levied by this Council, and what part thereof is without, and what 
part within, the ten-mill limitation; 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CANFIELD, OHIO: 
 
  Section 1:  The amounts and rates as determined by the Budget Commission 
in its certification and the same are hereby accepted. 
 
  Section 2:  That there be and is hereby levied on the tax duplicate of said City 
the rate of each tax necessary to be levied within and without the ten-mill limitation as 
follows: 
 
__________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Fund 

Amount 
Approved by 

Budget 
Commission 

Inside 10 Mill 
Limitation 

 
Amount to be 
Derived from 

Levies Outside 
10 Mill 

Limitation 

 
County Auditor’s 
Estimate of Tax 

Rate to be 
Levied Inside 10 

Mill Limit 

 
County Auditor’s 
Estimate of Tax 

Rate to be 
Levied Outside 

10 Mill Limit 
General    $325,970            -0-             1.00               -0- 
Road and Bridge    $651,940 -0- 2.00 -0- 
Police -0- $805,820 -0- 3.90 
Total    $977,910 $805,820 3.00 3.90 
 
  Section 3:  The Clerk of Council be and is hereby directed to certify a copy of 
this Resolution to the County Auditor of said County. 
 
  Section 4:  That this Resolution and all deliberations relating to the passage of 
this Resolution were held in open meetings of this Council, all pursuant to Section 121.22 of 
the Ohio Revised Code and Section 3.11 of the Charter of the Municipality of Canfield. 
 
PASSED IN COUNCIL THIS ______ DAY OF ______________________ A.D., 2025. 
 
        ___________________________ 
        PRESIDENT OF COUNCIL 
 



 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________ 
CLERK OF COUNCIL 
 

Certification of Publication 
 

  I, the undersigned Clerk of Council of the City of Canfield, Ohio, hereby certify 
that the foregoing Resolution was posted in a prominent place at the Municipal Building, 
Canfield, Ohio for seven continuous days, to-wit: 
_____________________________________ 
____________________________________________________________________. 
 
 
            
       _____________________________ 
        CLERK OF COUNCIL 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
MUNICIPAL ATTORNEY 
 
 

 



Introduced by: _____________ 
First Reading: ______________ 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CANFIELD, OHIO 
AUTHORIZING THE MAHONING COUNTY AUDITOR’S OFFICE TO ASSESS 

PROPERTIES WITHIN THE CITY OF CANFIELD 
 

 WHEREAS, the Council of the City of Canfield desires to authorize the Mahoning 
County Auditor’s Office to assess properties within the City of Canfield; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Mahoning County Auditor’s Office requires a Resolution to be passed 
in order to assess properties for tax year 2025/calendar year 2026. 
 
NOW, THERFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CANFIELD, OHIO: 
 
 Section 1: That City Council of the City of Canfield authorizes the Mahoning County 
Auditor’s Office to assess properties within the City of Canfield for various reasons, attached 
hereto.   
 
 Section 2: That this Resolution and all deliberations relating to the passage of this 
Resolution were held in open meetings of this Council, all pursuant to Section 121.22 of the 
Ohio Revised Code and Section 3.11 of the Charter of the Municipality of Canfield.  
 
PASSED IN COUNCIL THIS ____________DAY OF______________A.D., 2025. 
 
 
      ___________________________ 
      PRESIDENT OF COUNCIL 
 
ATTEST: 
 
__________________ 
CLERK OF COUNCIL  
 

Certification of Publication 
 

I, the undersigned, Clerk of the City of Canfield, Ohio, hereby certify that the foregoing 
Resolution was posted in a prominent place at the Municipal Building, Canfield, Ohio for 
seven continuous days, to-wit: _________________________________________ 
___________________________________________________________________. 
 
      _______________________ 
      CLERK OF COUNCIL 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
___________________________ 
MUNICIPAL ATTORNEY 

 
 
 



















1 
 

MINUTES 
 

CANFIELD CITY COUNCIL 
REGULAR MEETING 

AUGUST 13, 2025- 5:30 P.M. 
 

 The meeting was called to order by Mr. Mark Graham, Acting President of Council, 
followed by the Pledge of Allegiance. The Clerk called the roll to which a quorum responded as 
follows: Mr. Graham, Mr. Neff and Mr. Tieche.  
 
Absent: Mr. Dragish and Mrs. Oliver. 
 
Staff present: Christine Stack-Clayton, Finance Director; John Rapp, Public Works 
Superintendent; and Tyler Thorn, Zoning Inspector.  
 
Absent: Charles Colucci, Chief of Police. 
 
  Under PRESENTATIONS & PROCLAMATIONS: 
 
MR. GRAHAM: My understanding this evening is we have a presentation by Mr. Tom Bellish 
from Buckeye Energy.  
 
MR. TOM BELLISH:  Tom Bellish, President of Buckeye Energy Brokers.  Tonight, I have a hand-
out. One is all of the energy programs that we do with the city.  The second hand-out is 
pertaining to tonight’s agenda item; which is the natural gas program. Looking at the first one, 
we have a summary of the natural gas and electric programs that we do for the city.  In the 
green box, we have tonight’s proposal for the natural gas program.  It’s a NYMEX price, NYMEX 
is the New York Mercantile Exchange, that’s the Henry Hub natural gas future’s price plus 25.6 
cents.  What we’re doing then is comparing that to Columbia Gas.  Columbia Gas is at 32.5 
cents.  So, each and every month, residents will save money based on that price. What I have 
on the second sheet, based on today’s futures market, the Columbia Gas price in the blue line 
and then the City of Canfield price in the orange line.  Then you can see the savings is the 
difference from those two.   
 
MR. TIECHE: The reality is, this is going to be an increase for all the residents? I think now we’re 
paying .47 and some cents.   
 
MR. TOM BELLISH:  I think it’s .747.  This would be more like .6.  So, it should be less.  Well, it 
will be .6 to .7, I guess. If the winter prices hold.  I think the winter futures prices will drop 
based on the inventory numbers.  The second chart. The second chart shows where there is a 
dark blue line, that’s the current year average, the lighter blue line is the 5-year average.  What 
is shows, this spring we had a natural gas shortage and prices spiked.  What we’re showing 
today is there is a natural gas surplus.  So, there is plenty of natural gas in storage for the 
upcoming winter.  There is no price (inaudible) expected.  



2 
 

 
MR. GRAHAM: The NYMEX is published monthly? 
 
MR. BELLISH: That’s published daily. But is closes monthly.  It’s the 3rd to the last trading day of 
the month for the next month.  There will be a monthly close, like you mentioned.   
 
MR. GRAHAM: You said that index today was? 
 
MR. BELLISH: For October about 29 cents, plus the 25 cents.  
 
MR. GRAHAM: Plus, the .255 that is added on.  
 
MR. BELLISH:  That is added on by the supplier.  That’s why October, which is the first month in 
the chart is less than .6.  It’s about .55. 
 
MR. GRAHAM: Buckeye’s fee of .05 is added on? 
 
MR. BELLISH: That’s already included.   
 
MR. GRAHAM: Is that included in the .255. 
 
MR. BELLISH:  .256 now, as of today’s proposal from the supplier, IGS Energy.   
 
MR. TIECHE: Let me ask a question. Let’s go back, I’ve got information that says that our IGS gas 
rate for the last two years 0.0747.  Does that include all the other numbers that you were 
talking about, the 25 and 26? 
 
MR. BELLISH: That was their adder included.   
 
MR. TIECHE: If that’s the case and we are paying 0747 and now we’re going to be in the 
neighborhood of 60 cents that’s a substantial increase.   
 
MR. BELLISH: I think there is a decimal place missing.  It’s .747. 
 
MR. GRAHAM: I understood it at 74 cents compared to 55 cents per ccf.  
 
MR. BELLISH: Yes. So, it would be lower, right off the bat.   
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: .747. 
 
MR. BELLISH: Yes, 74 cents.  
 
MR. GRAHAM: .5575 
 



3 
 

 
MR. TIECHE: I’d like to go back and check that because my information that I had and this goes 
back to when we established the contract. It was .0747 per BTU and I thought that included 
everything.   
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: That does.   
 
MR. BELLISH: I think somehow we’re missing a decimal place. Is that the agreement or is that 
something else that you’re looking at?   
 
MR. TIECHE: It’s from the agreement.  I write it down in my phone so if somebody asks me 
questions I can pull it up.   
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: .0747. 
 
MR. TIECHE: .0747 correct.  
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: And the new rate, Tom? .06 
 
MR. BELLISH: Well, variable but it will start out at about .55, 55 cents.   
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: So, it decreased from .747.  
 
MR. TIECHE: That’s not what this chart shows.  This chart is showing that Columbia Gas is going 
to be in excess of 60 cents. The lower one is .57 as a start off point.   
 
MR. BELLISH: Yes, but I think maybe on your phone it was off by a decimal place. I’m not sure if 
it was in units.  A lot of times you’ll see gas measured in thousand cubic feet. I know in the 
Enbridge and Dominion System it’ sin thousand cubic feet.  But in Columbia gas it’s always in 
100 cubic feet.  Unfortunately, in this business that happens a lot. We go back and forth 
between units of measure.   
 
GARY STANKO: My name is Gary Stanko, I’m a Canfield resident on Findlay Drive.  The published 
rate on the website is .747 cubic feet. In the common (inaudible) that’s $7.47 per hundred cubic 
feet that we get from Columbia Gas.   
 
MR. BELLISH: .74 cents.   
 
GARY STANKO: It’s $7.47 for 100 cubic feet.   
 
MR. BELLISH: Columbia Gas is measured in Ccf’s meaning 100 cubic feet. The Roman Numeral C 
for hundred and the current price is .747 per hundred cubic feet.   
 
GARY STANKO: And that’s $7.47 per 100 cubic feet.  



4 
 

MR. BELLISH: No, that’s 74.7 cents, per hundred.  
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: Move the decimal place.  Multiply by 100. It goes from .747 to 74.7.   
 
MR. STANKO: 0.7 would be….. 
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: It’s not 0.7. 
 
MR. TIECHE: Can we do some research on this and pull up our last ordinance, so that we’re 
looking at the same numbers?  Can we do that now? 
 
MR. NEFF: How long are we setting this for?  Is it two years?  
 
MR. TIECHE: This is not a fixed rate, either, right?   
 
MR. BELLISH: We’re fixing the adder.  The advantage of that is, Columbia Gas also fixes their 
adder.  We’re always beating it.  We’re proposing a two-year term where the adder is fixed.   
 
MR. GRAHAM: Since it is a variable would the ability be there to come back and fix the rate at 
any time?   
 
MR. BELLISH: Yes, I was just going to say that. This is variable with the option to fix.   
You could fix it right up front, gas drops tomorrow, not even the variable just fixed, so yes, 
there is the option to fix.   
 
MR. GRAHAM: Maybe I didn’t ask the right question but you couldn’t fix it today?   
 
MR. BELLISH: It’s pretty high right now. The upcoming winter months are high. I don’t think 
they’ll stay that high due to the graph below; which is showing a lot of natural gas. So, it’s just a 
matter of time.  Those come down. I think residents will get a better price doing it this way.  
Let’s say in the spring, prices are still low, then we can lock something in.   
 
MR. GRAHAM: Under your contract and your agreement you would come back to us, if you felt 
that, that was a better option.   
 
MR. BELLISH: Yes, we’re always looking at what a fixed price would be.  Prior to this, I did see 
the city’s website and it did look accurate to me.   
 
MR. STANKO: Looking at the Apples to Apples comparison from the Ohio website.  Looking at 
ADP Energy for a 24-month fixed rate is .6750. What is my fixed rate under IGS as a consumer 
and resident?   
 



5 
 

MR. BELLISH: So, the current proposal is a variable rate with a fixed adder.  The wholesale price 
plus the fixed adder, so it’s guaranteed to save from the Columbia Gas rate.  The fixed price 
isn’t guaranteed to save from the Columbia Gas rate.   
 
MR. STANKO: Columbia Gas is at .631 right now.   
 
MR. BELLISH: But the price for the upcoming winter is projected to be higher than that.   
 
MR. STANKO: As a resident why would I want to opt in to a fixed rate that currently expires in 
September of 2025 at .747 when on the open market there were rates that were .55 much 
cheaper than the Canfield aggregate.  The question would be, how many people are on the 
Canfield aggregate?  What percent participation do we have with the Canfield aggregate?   
 
MR. BELLISH: I would have to get back to you on that.  It’s been very popular.  
 
MR. STANKO: It was popular until your rates went up to .747.  I opted out because at that point 
in time my gas was .055 a fixed rate for 2 years from other suppliers.  Tonight, you’re going to 
say, it’s going to be X amount, you can’t give me the figures.  How can I make that decision as a 
citizen of Canfield for a gas rate.   
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: You have given us a figure. You said .64.   
 
MR. BELLISH: My projected rate based on the market is the orange line on the chart.  You look 
at this, which appears to average about .62.   
 
MR. STANKO: When I look at IGS, on the Apples to Apples comparison chart from PUCO, their 
rates start at .99. You are less than that for the City of Canfield?  With termination fees of 149. 
as opposed to other.  
 
MR. BELLISH: With this program there is no termination fee.   
 
MR. STANKO: I understand that.  You have IGS, ADP and other suppliers on there.  How did you 
determine to go to IGS vs other suppliers?  As a citizen that goes to Apples to Apples to make a 
choice, when I look at fixed rates here, they are much lower than what I’m seeing at the City of 
Canfield.  
 
MR. BELLISH: IGS is .99 and I’m projecting .62 with IGS.   
 
MR. STANKO: .62 is a good figure.  I got Columbia Gas at .6331. 
 
MR. BELLISH: But that’s for one month. I’m projecting for an entire year; which is much more 
expensive months, not just the summer months.   
 
MR. STANKO: You’re going to lock us in for 2 years on this contract? 



6 
 

 
MR. BELLISH: The adder portion. If we can get an attractive rate we would lock in for the fixed.   
 
MR. STANKO: On the.747 that we had, as gas rates went down, there was no decrease in the 
gas that we were paying.   
 
MR. BELLISH: That was a fixed rate.   
 
MR. STANKO:  Now you’re changing the contract that says, okay, citizens of Canfield, here’s 
your rate, here’s an adder, the New York Stock Exchange, plus my fee that I’m going to take as 
the broker. That’s going to change every month. Are you looking at 6 months at a time?   
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: We can lock it in at any time, correct?   
 
MR. BELLISH: We can lock it in at any time for 1 to 24 months.   
 
MR. GRAHAM: I would ask that you would commit to getting back to us, if you felt it was more 
advantageous to lock in the rate, off of the variable rate.   
 
MR. BELLISH: Yes, certainly. I would think an attractive rate might be .55 or lower.  I would 
periodically update administration.   
 
MR. STANKO:  .55 is a great rate because some people are with New Wave Energy at .55.  
Unfortunately, New Wave Energy is no longer a supplier to Ohio.  So, when I look at the agenda 
and we talk about gas prices for the City of Canfield, and IGS was picked as the leader and I’m 
looking at Apples to Apples as a citizen, that’s my tool.  I’m looking at rates all over. Again, 
you’re entering into a contract that I as a citizen don’t know what the fixed rate is going to be 
here.  A fixed variable rate. If I look at the website, you have the adder in there but that’s the 
New York Stock Exchange. Most people are not stock brokers in the city and we’re here to 
benefit all the citizens.   
 
MR. BELLISH: Right. You can see the advantage of the program if IGS is at .99 but they’re 
bidding for the program at about .62, that’s the advantage of the aggregation.  
 
MR. STANKO: If you tell me it’s .62, I’ll sign up tomorrow. But you’re not giving the rate.  We 
think it’s going to be this or that.   
 
MR. BELLISH: Those who don’t pick a supplier have a Columbia Gas rate at NYMEX plus .325. So, 
people should be aware of that type of pricing.  That’s what you get.  So, we’re just being better 
than that.   
 
MR. STANKO: As a broker you should come back to the city and say, I think we should lock in at 
this rate right now; which is .055 because I didn’t see that as a consumer over the life of the 
contract that we had, a 3- or 4-year contract.   



7 
 

 
MR. TIECHE: It was 2. It expires in September of this year.   
 
MR. D’APOLITO: I believe it was a 3-year deal.  
 
CLERK: I’m looking at the ordinance and it was passed June 30, 2022.   
 
MR. BELLISH: That would be 3. At the time, prices were about 90 cents.  The .747 was a good 
price at the time.  But the market did drop.   
 
MR. STANKO: You didn’t come back to the city and say….. 
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: Couldn’t do it.   
 
MR. GRAHAM: We did not have that option.   
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: This is not going to be locked in.   
 
MR. BELLISH: It was already fixed.  This way, it’s guaranteed savings, and then we have the 
option to lock in when the market drops.   
 
MR. STANKO: At what point in time do you come back to the city and say, now’s the time to 
lock in?  
 
MR. BELLISH: I’ll update them periodically regardless. But I think about .55 is an attractive 
number.   
 
MR TIECHE: If we were interested in entering into a fixed rate contract today, what would that 
rate be?   
 
MR. BELLISH: I think the numbers we got were about .66.  That’s why we’re looking at the 
variable rate. If the upcoming winter drops, like I think it will, we’re looking at .6 for winter; 
which is better than .66.  I like to take guaranteed savings when we can get it.  What we’re 
doing is moving residents from the Columbia Gas rate to this rate.  That’s where they’re at.  
Those who signed up for a fixed price aren’t eligible for the program.  We won’t be sending 
them letters. They’re already signed up. They’re already in a contract. They’re not affected.  
This is people who have Columbia Gas.   
 
MR. TIECHE: The fixed rate contract is only good thru September 2025, with IGS, right? 
 
MR. BELLISH: Yes, the current rate.   
 



8 
 

MR. STANKO: You say, current members, citizens on a fixed rate plan, they would have the 
ability to opt -into the program, whether you send them from Canfield, if you don’t want to be 
in this program, opt-out.  But you also have the ability to opt back in at any time?  
 
MR. BELLISH:  Yes, we’ve kept those options open.   
 
MR. STANKO: Your statement didn’t say that, I just wanted to clarify that.   
 
MR. BELLISH: That’s good to point out.  Residents can opt-in at a later date.  Watch for a 
termination fee and that kind of thing.  It’s just that they won’t receive a letter.  A 
 
MR. STANKO: I thought all residents of Canfield get that letter to opt-out? 
 
MR. BELLISH: No, just eligible residents.  If you’re under our contract, you won’t get a letter.  
We post all the details on the city’s website.   
 
MR. TIECHE: I have to say, I’m thoroughly confused.  
 
MR. STANKO: I’m on a fixed rate and I did get an opt-in letter from the city.  I opted out of the 
contract because I got a better price that was better than the City of Canfield.   
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: That’s the nature of the industry.   
 
MR. STANKO: I’d love the aggregation rate to be the best rate I can get.  Ours was a little bit 
higher.  
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: Because we locked it in.   
 
MR. STANKO: So, we’re going to lock in at a certain rate with the NYMEX exchange but you’re 
going to come back to us and say, if I can get this better, all the citizens of Canfield, you got a 
better rate now.  
 
MR. BELLISH: All eligible residents.  Those entering into the program or just with Columbia Gas.   
 
MR. GRAHAM: So, in other words, you would notify all eligible Canfield residents that we’re 
now providing the option to fix the rate or they could opt-out of the program? 
 
MR. BELLISH:  If we go to fix a rate, another letter will be sent.  Here is the new rate.   
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: Who makes the determination to fix the rate?   
 
MR. BELLISH:  That would be the city.  Administration. Some cities we go back to council. Some 
cities we do it administratively.   
 



9 
 

MR. GRAHAM: Mr. Bellish agreed to communicate on a timely basis to us, his best opinion at 
fixing the rate becomes a better option.   
 
MR. GRAHAM: Any further questions?   
 
MR. TIECHE: We’ll rely on them to tell us what the rate is. Because I don’t know what the rate is 
today.  We’re talking 62 and 66.  We can’t lock in today at a rate, correct?   
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: This contract doesn’t commence until the end of September.  
 
MR. BELLISH: October flow, November bill.   
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: If we were to lock in today Tom, what’s that number?   
 
MR. BELLISH: It was like .66.  I’d have to look at some emails.   
 
MR. TIECHE: If we lock in .66 and our last rate was .074. 
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: .74.  Not .074.  
 
MR. TIECHE: I don’t see that number at all. 
 
ATTY FORTUNATO:  I think you just have an extra zero there.  We’re not going from .074 to .66. 
We’re going from .74 to .66. 
 
MR. GRAHAM: Actually, we’re lower than .66. 
 
MR. BELLISH: October we’re projecting .55 or so.   
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: Chuck you might be looking at cubic foot and we’re looking at hundred.  
 
MR. TIECHE:  .0747 per BTU.  
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: So, per hundred is .74.   
 
MR. TIECHE: I think that’s what our ordinance says is per BTU. I need to have that clarified.  I’m 
confused.  If we were to vote on it today, I couldn’t vote for it because I don’t know where 
we’re at.  
 
MR. BELLISH: I think the important thing to remember is it is a program that will be lower than 
Columbia Gas. There is a lot of people with Columbia Gas right now. It will be lower than their 
rate. That is the important thing to remember.   
 
MR. TIECHE: I’m with Energy Harbor. 



10 
 

 
MR. BELLISH: Is that for electric?  
 
MR. TIECHE: Electric is Energy Harbor and IGS is gas.   
 
MR. GRAHAM: Correct me if I’m wrong, I’m looking at 75 cents compared to fixed our previous 
rate at 75 cents compared to a variable rate at 56 cents. 
 
MR. BELLISH: Yes.  
 
MR. STANKO: That’s the target rate. He didn’t tell you what the fixed rate is today.  The target 
rate is 55 and he’ll get back to council.   
 
MR. BELLISH: I think he’s just looking at the October month, which is the first month on the 
chart.   
 
MR. STANKO: My question is, you came here and said what the fixed rate would be today. You 
should have a number in mind what that fixed rate would be today for council. 
 
MR. BELLISH:  It was .66.  That’s why I really think this is a better plan.  
 
MR. GRAHAM: You would say, most fixed rate options are going to be higher rate today than a 
variable rate.  
 
MR. BELLISH: Yes. I’m saying between .7 and .85 actually. Other cities, other communities, 
other offers.  
 
MR. GRAHAM: Any further questions? 
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO:  Chuck indicated that at this point in time, he’s not able to move forward. 
Let’s just assume that you Mr. Graham and Mr. Neff would, per our charter that’s sufficient.  
We have a majority of those members present.  Historically, we have always wanted to have a 
majority of council vote in the affirmative. That would be three. Clearly, the Charter says 2 out 
of 3 tonight to pass this.  Do we want to move forward?  We can have a special meeting next 
week and get Chuck comfortable with the issue. We would most likely have another member of 
Council or two in attendance.  Then we can have that true majority of council instead of the 
majority of those present.   
 
MR. GRAHAM: That would be my preference.  I would like to get anyone that has any 
unanswered questions answered.   
 
MR. BELLISH: The downside to that is, as we go, we may miss residents in their October flow. 
Anybody that has an early meter reading in October, we might miss them.  They would get a 



11 
 

letter, the program is over, they go back to Columbia Gas and then we pick them up in 
November.  That is the risk.   
 
MR. GRAHAM: Atty. Fortunato are you thinking next week? 
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: Table. Yes. We can Table this.  Mr. Tieche are you comfortable voting in the 
affirmative tonight.  You want to wait?  
 
MR. TIECHE: I’d rather wait.   
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: Somebody would have to make a motion.  
 
MR. TIECHE: Can we do that now?  
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: Yes.  
 
MR. TIECHE: I move that we table item 1 and 2. Are we going to set a time certain?   
 
MR. D’APOLITO: We’ll have to consult with the other members of council.   
 
MR. NEFF: Second.  
 
   ROLL CALL ON MOTION:   3 Votes-Yes   
         0 Votes-No   
         Motion passes.  
         ITEM A & B TABLED 
 
MR. BELLISH: I’d just like to say, Mr. Tieche, I’m available, if you’d like to do a phone call or 
anything like that, I’m available.   
 
MR. TIECHE: Very good.   
 
  Under MINUTES, the Minutes of the Regular Meeting on July 16, 2025 were 
approved as presented.  
 
  Under READING OF COMMUNICATIONS: 
 
MR. GRAHAM: Do we have any communications this evening? 
 
MR. NEFF: None that I’m going to go into right now.   
 
MR. TIECHE: I have nothing.  
 



12 
 

  Under REPORTS, of Committees, Boards, Mayor’s Report, City Manager, Finance 
Director, Chief of Police, Zoning Inspector and Public Works Superintendent.  
 
MR. TIECHE: I have nothing.  
 
MR. NEFF:  Planning & Zoning did not meet. I have no report.  
 
MR. GRAHAM: Design Review met August 5th. A number of items, all compliant were all 
approved.  The minutes were distributed.  If there are any questions.   
 
MR. GRAHAM: Mr. D’Apolito. 
 
MR. D’APOLITO: I will give my report as well as the Chief of Police report. The Chief had a 
scheduling conflict tonight and I excused him.  I told him that I would be happy to give his 
report.   
 
As for my report, the main event has been the paving that has occurred throughout the city.  
It’s a new company to the city, Karvo.  From everything we’ve seen so far, they’ve done a 
fantastic job.  We started ahead of schedule. Paving began July 28th, a week early.  Obviously, 
our concerns are with the fair.  We wanted everything to be completed.  Court Street was done, 
Colonial Drive, Dartmouth Drive, Carriage Hill, Montgomery Drive. One of our residents here, 
told us what a nice job they did there, as well.  We also did repair work on North Broad Street, 
that came out very well. They did a really nice job out of Lisbon Street repairing. I just wanted 
to congratulate Karvo, they seem great to work with, I talked to them a couple of times, they 
seem very good.   
 
The only other thing that I have is we have Family Fun Night scheduled for tomorrow evening 
from 6 to 9 pm. We’ll have music, food trucks, we will have bounce houses and well as games 
for everyone.  And a petting zoo.   
 
On behalf of Chief Colucci, the Canfield PD and the Sheriff’s Office have been working together 
coordinating the annual traffic strategy for the fair.  Currently, everything is in place.   
 
Congratulations to Officers Emily Roth and Morganne Lewis. Both have successfully completed 
the Field Training Packet and the exit interview which we call, “The Gauntlet”.  The both 
survived the Gauntlet.  Each officer participates in a panel interview with the Chief, supervisors 
and all training officers.  The interviews are two hours in length and they are designed to assess 
each officer’s knowledge of the entire training packet. Each did excellent and have been 
released to full time patrol duties.   
 
Finally, all School Resource Officers have been working with their respective schools and are 
excited to begin the 25/26 school year.  That’s the Chief’s report. Thank you.  
 
MR. GRAHAM: Thank you. Let’s go to Mr. Rapp.  



13 
 

 
PUBLIC WORKS SUPERINTENDENT:  Thank you. Crews were replacing some storm water lines 
on Deer Trail and Blueberry.  They completed it right before school.  Other crews are out doing 
our annual hydrant flushing and valve exercising that the EPA has us do.  The end of August, 
September and into October we’ll be really heavy into water (inaudible). We also have 100 flow 
tests to do on the fire hydrants that was kind of put on us also.  We’re doing a lot of hydrants.  
Also, leaf season, we set that at the beginning of October 13th, which is a Monday, the end date 
will be November 21st. There will be a final sweep day, Monday, November 24th.  That is 6 full 
weeks.  That’s all I have.  
 
MR. TIECHE: Flow tests. Is that an EPA requirement?   
 
PUBLIC WORKS SUPERINTENDENT:  It is not.  The ISO likes it.  
 
MR. TIECHE: Okay. That’s what I figured.   
 
MR. GRAHAM: Thank you.  Mrs. Clayton.  
 
FINANCE DIRECTOR:  Currently, I’m reviewing parcels for the street light assessment for tax 
year 25 calendar year 26.  All of that data will need to be approved by council at the next 
meeting in September.  I have to send it into the Mahoning County Auditor’s so it can be on 
next year’s real estate bill.  I am currently sending letters to vendors with stale dated checks.  If 
they send it back to me and request that it be reissued, it’s void after 90 days on our checks. If I 
don’t receive any response the check will transfer to the unclaimed monies fund at a later 
council meeting, probably in December.  That’s it.  
 
MR. GRAHAM: Thank you. Our Zoning Inspector, Mr. Thorn.  
 
ZONING INSPECTOR:  Thank you, Mr. Graham. For the month of August, so far we issued 14 
permits, valued at $132,518.  Total permits issued so far, this year, 116 permits. The year to 
date permit value is $19,751,136.04. Tomorrow is our Planning & Zoning meeting.  We have a 
public hearing prior to the meeting at 5:20pm. Letters were sent out to notify them of the 
public hearing.  That’s all I have.  
 
MR. GRAHAM: Very good. Thank you.   
 
MR. TIECHE: Is the public hearing on the expanded garage?  
 
ZONING INSPECTOR: It’s a shed.  The gentleman has a garage and a shed and it’s non-
conforming because we allow for one accessory structure.  He would like to extend his shed. So, 
he has to go before Planning & Zoning to get that granted.   
 
MR. TIECHE: Thank you.  
 



14 
 

ATTORNEY FORTUNATO: No report.   
 
  Under QUESTIONS ON REPORTS, there were none from the public.  
 
MR. NEFF: I wanted to ask our Public Works Superintendent, did we get any communication 
from the EPA compliance or lack thereof at the Material Sciences Corporation?   
 
PUBLIC WORKS SUPERINTENDENT: I don’t have any knowledge of that.  
 
ATTY FORTUNATO:  We’ve been talking on the non-compliance issue and the correspondence 
has been sent. The non-compliance issues are very technical.  The compliance program, the 
plan is significant document (inaudible). Speaking with Todd Anderson, the general counsel for 
the EPA, nothing unusual is happening there. Every time there is a plan submitted in any 
instance across the state, there are some changes to be made.  The correspondence set to 
MSC.  I talked to Mr. Anderson last week and there are no issues out there.  They’re in 
compliance.  
 
MR. NEFF:  Anderson is again, the Attorney for the EPA? 
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: Chief counsel for the Ohio EPA.   
 
MR. NEFF: Out of Columbus? 
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: Correct.   
 
MR. NEFF: We have a lot of citizens concerned with this chemical spill. Essentially, when it first 
happened that property was designated changing the designation, I think from Manufacturing 
to a hazardous waste facility.   
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: You can make that statement.  But they have to hold that waste on site. 
They have to collect it and hold it on site.  Then they have to move it off site.  If people think 
that’s changing the zoning to allow hazardous waste site, so be it. That’s just the way it has to 
be. They’re collecting the waste that has spilled.  
 
MR. NEFF: As I understand it, because it’s a hazardous waste site, it allows more inspection 
from our standpoint.   
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: I would not characterize that legally as a hazardous waste site.  I don’t think 
the zoning has changed. I don’t think the use has changed.   
 
MR. NEFF: I would disagree with you Mr. Fortunato.   
 



15 
 

ATTY. FORTUNATO: It’s a manufacturing facility that had a leak and it’s utilizing all the best 
efforts to fix that leak, stop that leak, which has been stopped and clean up. I don’t think that 
changes the nature of the business.   
 
MR. NEFF: No. But we don’t have any of our own fire department able to go in there. As I 
understand it, the Fire Chief told me, he’s only allowed to inspect once a year or once every 
two years.   
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: If the Fire Chief or City Manager contacted counsel for MSC, they would 
absolutely be allowed there.  We have been told that by their counsel.  
 
MR. NEFF: Okay. That hasn’t been communicated to our council, that I know of.   
 
ATTORNEY FORTUNATO: We’ve had a conversation.  The EPA is doing a good job of keeping up 
with correspondence.  
 
MR. NEFF: My concern is, the Federal Government is talking about closing the EPA.  I think we 
need to be cognizant for our community.  That facility is right beside the high school. Anyway, I 
just want to be diligent about it.  We also asked for a laymen’s interpretation of some of the 
complicated reports coming out of the facility. When they give these micro-contamination 
figures and so forth, what does that really mean to residents that are exposed to this toxicity.  
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: I’m happy to go back and ask them about that.  
 
MR. NEFF: Okay.  I appreciate that.   
 
MR. TIECHE: Another question in regards to that, there was a brief memo sent out saying about 
something in the storm water on S. Briarcliff.   
 
MR. D’APOLITO: Yes. That involved the Swim Club. Is that what you’re referring to?  
 
MR. TIECHE: Yes.   
 
MR. GRAHAM:  That has been addressed.  
 
MR. D’APOLITO: That has been addressed.  The EPA is handling it.  I believe they’re satisfied at 
this point.  They have to change of how they dispose of their pool water.   
 
  Under RECOGNITION OF PERSONS DESIRING TO APPEAR BEFORE COUNCIL: 
 
ANNE LALLY:  I’m a resident here in Canfield.  What I was concerned about and you addressed 
some of it. There was what you had talked about with the spill. I was just wondering what was 
the status with the clean up?  How far along were they?  You had said you were going to check 
and get more information that we could understand.  There was an article in the Vindicator on 



16 
 

July 19th, and I read it and to me it was very confusing.  It seemed to be like, the EPA was asking 
for something, the company had some compliance but it didn’t look like total compliance.  I’m 
just concerned, you mentioned the high school, which is very important, it’s right there but also 
the bike path.  That’s why I came tonight to ask that question. To give us some idea of what the 
status was that we can understand.  
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: I’ll ask those questions.  
 
ANNE LALLY: Thank you.  
 
MR. GRAHAM: Anyone else? 
 
JIM GUTERBA: Jim Guterba I live at 361 Findlay.  I have some visual issues, I don’t drive 
anymore. My issue is, a few months ago, I had water issues where I had a guy come in a pump 
with a jet and they cleaned out what they thought. The second time around in May it happened 
again, they looked at it and they said you have a blockage at the end. They said, we don’t do 
that, the blockage, you’ll have to call the city.  I called the city and they came over and they 
said, that’s not ours.  I got great help from the staff here, all the way across, they were very nice 
to me, they weren’t condescending. This doesn’t make sense because at the top of Findlay, 
right at my driveway, it hoops up a little bit and all types of trucks and everything else shows up 
there every single day. A lot of families in the area, school buses. When they looked at it, after I 
already spent about $7,000-$8,000, no you got a blockage, a lateral. I said, what do these cost?  
The one guy said, they can go to around $18,000.  I’m doing a whiplash at that point.  They said, 
maybe the city will help you with that.  I called my insurance agent and they said you’d 
probably get $10,000.  They called when they got the paper back and they said, no we’re not 
going to give you that.  It’s for indoor.  What I was looking at, because of the size of the trucks, 
concrete trucks go up there, 60 tons. We have nice homes here, they’re here all the time, new 
driveways and everything else.  I can see it easily, with my vision, crushing the terracotta or 
other types of clay or other types of pipe. I’m not an expert, it’s just what I’m seeing.  They said, 
we’re going to have to look into it, so they did a scope to go back in to find what it was.  I 
couldn’t tell you. He can probably tell you.  
 
PUBLIC WORKS SUPERINTENDENT: We don’t know exactly what it was, it’s very dark.  It was 
hitting a solid substance in the pipe that they weren’t able to break through.   
 
JIM GUTERBA: One thing I was looking at, in the years, as I moved into Canfield from Poland, my 
wife taught here for many years and my kids did as well, but a particular guy who sold a lot of 
homes here, I watched him throw paint cans and things into the side of the houses, not mine 
because I was there all the time.  I had rods through mine and everything else.  I had typical 
things like a flapper valve was going or something like that, I had to work through it.  I had to 
pay about $1,200 to work through that and now we’re looking at the bids that I put out to see if 
I have to handle this we’re close to $18,000 on the top side, if they get into opening at Findlay 
to see what’s down there, even more, and it could be more.  I talked to the fellow who is going 
to do the excavation maybe for me, he said, they were going to do it a week or so ago, but they 



17 
 

had an emergency in another town.  I got another report that they need to sign or something 
like that or a picture, I can’t explain what he said exactly. I thought he was coming tonight but 
he said, that would be $7,000.  I said, I can’t keep going like this.  I’m not sleeping at night. My 
wife and I had some nice trips planned, we’re in our 80’s now and they aren’t around much 
anymore.  I don’t think I should get any special treatment from anybody else at all.  I think 
anybody that is facing what I am right now and I know it’s the rule, it might have been a rule 
but it’s archaic at this time, in my opinion. I just want to be fair.  That’s the way I was raised, 
that’s the way I feel now.  I don’t want to get any better treatment than anybody else in 
Canfield. But at the same time, I think I’m getting that kind of money.  I had a couple people 
say, you could just let it go, you don’t have to do it, the jet was enough.  If I go to sell the house, 
one of these days, or my kids do, no, no, because that’s a known problem and it wasn’t taken 
care of.  I feel I need to take care of it for whoever else may move in, along with us on Findlay 
Avenue. I don’t wish this problem on anybody else on Findlay or any of the other streets.  I just 
don’t see why I, I speak for me the family, we have to handle the whole thing.  I’m one of those, 
I like Canfield, I walk a lot, I think your guys see me walking with my dog “Gomer”.  I pick up the 
trash along the sides because Canfield doesn’t deserve that.  Not that, that is reason that I 
should have any special thing here.  If there are any questions, we had the flapper valve thing, 
the water in our garage was about this much in the basement.  The flushed the rest out and 
that’s when the saw the block.  They said, we don’t do that.  That’s when I called the city. So, 
here I am now trying to see what can be done.  I’m looking for fairness. I talked to a number of 
people in Canfield, those that I know and respect, they said what you’re telling us doesn’t seem 
right.  It might be the rule.  It might be a rule that needs to be adjusted somehow today. They 
don’t have buggies anymore. I’m not being too smart. That shouldn’t be based on that, it 
should be based on things that happen now and the equipment that is available now.  I’m just 
asking for a fair shot.  
 
MR. D’APOLITO: I’ve been out to the home a few times. Mr. Guterba was my high school 
teacher. The blockage is in the lateral coming from his home. The city has jetted our lines and 
they’re clear. That’s the dilemma.  The blockage is in his line.  It’s his responsibility. 
 
MR. NEFF: Is the physical connection of the lateral to the sewer underneath the street?   
 
MR. D’APOLITO: It is.  
 
MR. NEFF: Do we have several streets where the sewer is actually under the pavement? 
 
MR. GRAHAM: I would say many.  
 
MR. D’APOLITO: I would think most.  
 
MR. TIECHE: One side of the street or the other.  
 
MR. D’APOLITO: His was in the middle. Usually it is on one side or the other.  So, they have to 
cross the street.  



18 
 

 
MR NEFF: Is there precedent where we’ve dealt with this before and how many times? 
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO:  It’s always the property owner.  
 
MR. GRAHAM: Thank you.   
 
MR. GUTERBA: The school buses are an issues, the drivers have told me that, with the wear and 
tear on the concrete or the asphalt or whatever.  Right in front of my driveway, you’ll see a 
lump and there is a green marker there that will show you where it started.  Looked down in 
there and it looked like a mess down in there.  When I talked to the excavator, he said it 
depended on how much we get into when we get down there.  Just the scope itself was 
another $7,000.  I’m getting close to $20,000 in just the last part of the year. Whether I’m 
successful or not, I think people in Canfield deserve a better outcome. That’s just my opinion. 
Somebody else may have a good reason why it’s that way. I don’t know.  I wonder why it was 
that way many years ago.  I appreciate all of you taking the time to listen to what I have to say.  
If there are any questions, I’d be glad to…. I’m not an expert on this, I’m relying on some of the 
fellows that were there that day. They saw it just as well. They were guiding me, that you have 
to get a thing to look in here.  They helped guide me in the right way. I appreciate what they did 
for me and their staff.  As I walked around the streets the last few days, I saw things going on 
there and the crew was very nice.  They’re doing their work.   
 
MR. GRAHAM: Thank you.  
 
MR. GUTERBA: That makes Canfield a nice place to live.  
 
MR. D’APOLITO: Thank you, Mr. Guterba. Council has to move on to other business. 
 
MR. GUTERBA: I understand.   
 
MR. D’APOLITO: I’ll discuss it with council and if we have questions we’ll be in contact.  
 
  Under OLD BUSINESS, there was none.  
 
  Under NEW BUSINESS: 
 
ITEM C:  An Ordinance Authorizing the City Manager to Execute an Agreement for an Extra-
Territorial Sewer and Water User (Joseph and Darlene MacBenn) Parcel Numbers 26-018-0-
055.00-0 and 26-018-0-006.00-0.  
 
MR. GRAHAM: As per the provisions of Section 4.05 of the Charter of the City of Canfield, I 
move that Council dispense with the requirement of two readings of the proposed Ordinance 
and authorize adoption of the same upon its first reading.  
 



19 
 

MR. TIECHE: Second.  
 
   ROLL CALL ON MOTION:   3 Votes-Yes   
         0 Votes-No   
         Motion passes. 
 
MR. GRAHAM: As per the provisions of Section 4.05 of the Charter of the City of Canfield, I 
move that Council dispense with the requirements of a full reading of the proposed Ordinance 
and authorize reading by title only.  
 
MR. NEFF: Second.  
 
   ROLL CALL ON MOTION:   3 Votes-Yes   
         0 Votes-No   
         Motion passes. 
 
MR. TIECHE:  Mr. President, I have an Ordinance Authorizing the City Manager to Execute an 
Agreement for an Extra-Territorial Sewer and Water User (Joseph and Darlene MacBenn) Parcel 
Numbers 26-018-0-055.00-0 and 26-018-0-006.00-0.  
 
MR. D’APOLITO: This is a unique situation that has been going on for some time, prior to me 
even getting here. The property we’re talking about, the front of the properties are located in 
the township and the back of the property is located in the city.  There is a barrier of another 
property that prevents the MacBenn’s from annexing. They are willing to annex into the city. As 
part of this agreement they are required to do it immediately, as soon as annexation is 
available.  My thought is, if they can get this property developed, which they would be able to 
do with water and sewer. That would enhance the city. No disrespect to anybody but it is 
somewhat of an eyesore.  I’m hoping they can get that developed.  It will be beneficial to the 
city. It’s beneficial to the parties involved and if it becomes available for annexation, they are 
immediately required, as part of this agreement or any successor to that property, are required 
to annex immediately into the city. And we can turn off service at any time, if that were not to 
happen.   
 
MR. GRAHAM: The MacBenn’s are paying the full cost.  
 
MR. D’APOLITO: They’re paying for everything.  They have submitted drawings. We rejected the 
first ones because we wanted lines going to each property individually. I didn’t want one water 
line and one sewer line that feeds both properties.  There will be separate lines for each 
property.  I think it’s in the best interest of the city.   
 
MR. TIECHE: The individual lines are going to be water lines and sanitary sewer and they’re 
going to come off of West Main Street, is that correct? 
 
MR. D’APOLITO: Yes, sir.  



20 
 

 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: Section 925.02 of the code allows us to provide water to extra territorial 
users pursuant to an agreement. I would echo what the city manager has said in terms of we 
have a good agreement.   
 
MR. TIECHE: It’s my understanding that one of the obstacles here is the neighbor to the east.   
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: Correct.  
 
MR. TIECHE:  Have we made any effort to contact the Mahoning County Board of Health to 
determine whether or not that neighbor is meeting the standards of the Board of Health with 
regard to their septic tank and those kinds of things? Because one of the reason the MacBenn’s 
want in is because they need to replace either sanitary sewer and well and that kind of thing.  If 
we got one individual that is standing in the way, maybe we ought to twist the arm or find out 
what we can do in some fashion or another to accommodate that.  
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: We talked about doing that before but we hadn’t done it.   
 
MR. GRAHAM: Very good. Any further questions?   
 
MR. D’APOLITO: This has been an ongoing problem. This would finally resolve it. I do believe it’s 
beneficial to the city. I truly do.   
 
MR. TIECHE: I agree with you. It’s just when this all started, there was always that obstacle and 
it didn’t seem like anybody wanted to do anything with it. As a result of that, I was always 
against it.  
 
MR. D’APOLITO: I’m hoping that this is going to make the person to the east want to sign on as 
well. Once they see that we’re doing this. They really are stuck in a very unique… this is not 
anything that I think could be duplicated.  It’s a unique situation and the only resolution that I 
thought could help both parties, I really do.  
 
MR. GRAHAM: Any further questions?  
 
MR. NEFF: I seconded it.  
 
   ROLL CALL ON MOTION:    3 Votes-Yes   
         0 Votes-No   
         Ordinance passes.  
         Ordinance 2025-18.  
 
ITEM D: An Ordinance Declaring Surplus Property and Authorizing its Disposal.  
 



21 
 

MR. GRAHAM: As per the provisions of Section 4.05 of the Charter of the City of Canfield, I 
move that Council dispense with the requirement of two readings of the proposed Ordinance 
and authorize adoption of the same upon its first reading.  
 
MR. TIECHE: Second.  
 
   ROLL CALL ON MOTION:   3 Votes-Yes   
         0 Votes-No   
         Motion passes. 
 
MR. GRAHAM: As per the provisions of Section 4.05 of the Charter of the City of Canfield, I 
move that Council dispense with the requirements of a full reading of the proposed Ordinance 
and authorize reading by title only.  
 
MR. TIECHE: Second.  
 
   ROLL CALL ON MOTION:   3 Votes-Yes   
         0 Votes-No   
         Motion passes.  
 
MR. NEFF:  Mr. President, I have an Ordinance Declaring Surplus Property and Authorizing its 
Disposal. I move for passage.  
 
MR. TIECHE: Second.  
 
MR. D’APOLITO: The item involved is a Kubota Lawn Mower. We don’t know the age.  We’re 
thinking a 95.  It’s in complete disrepair. We’re willing to auction it.  We’d probably have to pay 
them to take it away.  It’s a riding lawn mower out at Red Gate and it’s in complete disrepair.   
 
   ROLL CALL ON ORDINANCE:   3 Votes-Yes   
         0 Votes-No   
         Ordinance passes  
         Ordinance 2025-19. 
 
ITEM E:  An Ordinance Amending Chapter 927 of the Codified Ordinances of Canfield, Ohio 
(Regarding Water Rates for 2025). 
 
MR. GRAHAM: As per the provisions of Section 4.05 of the Charter of the City of Canfield, I 
move that Council dispense with the requirement of two readings of the proposed Ordinance 
and authorize adoption of the same upon its first reading.  
 
MR. TIECHE: Second.  
 



22 
 

   ROLL CALL ON MOTION:   3 Votes-Yes   
         0 Votes-No   
         Motion passes. 
 
MR. GRAHAM: As per the provisions of Section 4.05 of the Charter of the City of Canfield, I 
move that Council dispense with the requirements of a full reading of the proposed Ordinance 
and authorize reading by title only.  
 
MR. TIECHE: Second.  
 
   ROLL CALL ON MOTION:   3 Votes-Yes   
         0 Votes-No   
         Motion passes. 
 
MR. GRAHAM:  An Ordinance Amending Chapter 927 of the Codified Ordinances of Canfield, 
Ohio (Regarding Water Rates for 2025). 
 
MR. GRAHAM: This is a proposed increase of 8.5% beginning October 1st of this year. In 
addition, a $12.75 quarterly debt service fee that would be assessed.  Just to be clear, this really 
doesn’t have much to do with the cost of water, It’s the cost of maintaining our infrastructure, 
the cost of the repairs and maintenance going on with our two water tanks as well as labor 
charges. So, how this would affect our customers, a minimum charging customer using a 
minimal amount, their bill would go from $145.35 for a quarter to $163.55, so the difference 
would be $18.20 or $6.00 per month increase per customer that uses the minimal amount.  
When we compare that to other municipalities and other water services, we are still low 
compared to other places. The increases at the end of this year will hopefully prevent us from 
having to do any increases next year as well.  In 2026 there would not be any increases 
necessary.  Right now, we’re projecting a deficit in our water fund with out the increases. With 
them, we’ll have a slight projection with surplus at the end of the year. That is an important 
fund to have monies available for the infrastructure.   
 
MR. GRAHAM: Any comments?   
 
MR. NEFF: I did see a chart. Was that given to us in the…… 
 
CLERK: It was in the packet that I emailed.  
 
MR. GRAHAM: Do we have any with the debt service, when that may expire?  
 
FINANCE DIRECTOR: Our first payment on the water tanks is due January 1, 2026. It’s a 20-year 
loan.   
 



23 
 

MR. D’APOLITO: At one point, our tanks were in horrible condition, not just cosmetically but 
structurally.  They are now fully repaired and are on a maintenance plan, so that it doesn’t 
happen again.  
 
MR. GRAHAM: I’m sure Mr. Rapp could attest to how many water line breaks we’ve had this 
past winter.   
 
MR. D’APOLITO: There were 6 in one day.  
 
MR. GRAHAM: I move for approval.  
 
MR. TIECHE: Second.  
 
   ROLL CALL ON ORDINANCE:    3 Votes-Yes  
          0 Votes-No  
          Ordinance passes 
          Ordinance 2025-20. 
 
  Under COUNCIL COMMENTS: 
 
MR. TIECHE: You mentioned Red Gate. Do we have a tenant out at Red Gate? 
 
MR. D’APOLITO: They’re long gone.  We had one at the one home but the parties are deceased.  
 
MR. TIECHE: Did they pay all of their debt? 
 
FINANCE DIRECTOR: No.   
 
MR. GRAHAM: Was it ever farmed? 
 
MR. D’APOLITO: Yes.  
 
MR. TIECHE: Have we had anymore discussion with anybody about Red Gate? 
 
MR. D’APOLITO: No. There has been no activity at this point.   
 
MR. NEFF: I would like to go into Executive Session.  
 
MR. D’APOLITO: Our lawyer is gone.  
 
MR. NEFF: That’s okay. He doesn’t have to attend Executive Session.  
 
MR. D’APOLITO: We need him to do that.  
 



24 
 

MR. TIECHE: If you want to go into Executive Session I’ll second it. 
 
CLERK: We need a motion to go into executive session.  
 
MR. GRAHAM: Mr. Neff made a motion.  
 
CLERK: You have to have a specific reason to go into executive session.  
 
FINANCE DIRECTOR: There is specific wording you have to use.  
 
CLERK: Mark is gone.   
 
MR. NEFF: I have that but I don’t have it with me. Let’s plan on it, so everybody knows, 
executive session next month.   
 
MR. GRAHAM:  Next week, we would have the opportunity.  We’re having a special council 
meeting.  When we determine when.   
 
MR. TIECHE: You’re going to check with the other members.  
 
CLERK: Yes. 
 
MR. TIECHE: Made a motion to adjourn 
 
MR. NEFF: Seconded the motion.  
 
MR. GRAHAM: This meeting is adjourned.  
 
 
      ____________________________ 
      PRESIDENT OF COUNCIL 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_________________________ 
CLERK OF COUNCIL  



1 
 

MINUTES 
CANFIELD CITY COUNCIL 

SPECIAL MEETING 
AUGUST 19, 2025-10:00AM 

 
 The meeting was called to order by Mr. Graham, Acting President of Council, followed 
by the Pledge of Allegiance. The Clerk called the roll to which a quorum responded as follows: 
Mr. Dragish, Mr. Graham, Mr. Neff and Mr. Tieche.  
 
Absent: Mrs. Oliver.  
 
This meeting was posted on the city’s website, per our Charter Amendment.  
 
Declaration of this Meeting: This meeting is regarding the City’s Gas Aggregation.  
 
TOM BELLISH: Tom Bellish, Buckeye Energy Brokers.  This morning you have before you a 
proposal from IGS Energy what it does is it takes the NYMEX closing price and adds .256 onto it. 
This is formatted very similar to what Columbia Gas does.  So, Columbia Gas takes the NYMEX 
closing on the same day and adds .325 to it.  It’s the same structure as what they do.  It’s just a 
guaranteed savings.  What I also like about the proposal is it has a right to fix the price at a later 
date.  If we get a very attractive market we can lock in for the rest of the term.  The residents 
would be notified by mail what that new price would be.  
 
MR. TIECHE: Is it the city’s choice to change? 
 
TOM BELLISH: The City’s choice.   
 
MR. GRAHAM: That index is fixed for the duration of the contract? 
 
TOM. BELLISH:  That is correct. The adder portion is fixed for the 24 months.  
 
MR. DRAGISH: Unless it goes lower. 
 
TOM BELLISH: The adder portion is fixed. The NYMEX price; which is really the well head price, 
at Henry Hub Louisiana, the trading point for this.  The gas will be a monthly variable or we 
have an option to fix those remaining months of the contract and then get a fixed price.  Then 
that would be fixed.   
 
MR. D’APOLITO: What is the current rate right now for gas? 
 
MR. BELLISH:  For October, the current price is about .55 cents.  This program price would be 
about 55 cents.   
 
MR. D’APOLITO: Plus, the .256 adder? 



2 
 

 
MR. BELLISH: No, that is included.   
 
MR. D’APOLITO: So, do we have a target where we would lock in? Do we have some idea? You 
would know historical lows and things like that. 
 
MR. BELLISH:  I think something under 60 cents would be attractive to lock in for the rest of the 
term.  I’ll be providing fixed prices to administration as we go.   
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: If we’re at 55…. 
 
MR. BELLISH: For October, the first month.   
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: okay. And it’s advisable to lock in under 60 cents.   
 
MR. BELLISH: Right. For the rest of the term.  It’s 24 months.  
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: Why not lock in now? 
 
MR. BELLISH: It’s probably 66 or more. 
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: To lock it in.  
 
MR. BELLISH: Yes. The upcoming winter and next winter, those months are pretty expensive 
yet.  What I think is going to happen, since we’re getting more and more gas in storage, we’re 
getting more inventory, the prices this winter will drop.  Instead of the market going to 70 
cents, which is where it’s at now, those months will drop and we’ll see about 55.   
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: I’m confused and maybe a little stupid. If we’re at 55 now. 
 
MR. BELLISH: Just for the month of October. 
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO:  Take out the month of October and where are we at, 70? It’s over 60? 
 
MR. BELLISH: The winter months, January and February are about 70.  
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: Thank you.   
 
MR. D’APOLITO: Mr. Bellish, how would we go about locking it in?  Would you notify me? You 
watch the market every day, I assume.  
 
MR. BELLISH: Yes.  
 



3 
 

MR. D’APOLITO: So, would it be your burden to contact the city when you think we’re at a good 
point to lock in? 
 
MR. BELLISH: Yes.  
 
MR. D’APOLITO: Or would you expect us to somehow monitor the NYMEX? 
 
MR. BELLISH: No, it’s a calculation, it’s a weighted average.  It’s something I already have set up 
and I can calculate and forward to you and you would be able to say yes or no.  But my target 
would be 60 cents or less.   
 
MR. TIECHE: Doesn’t our ordinance as proposed pretty much indicate we’re entering into an 
agreement with Buckeye Energy for the aggregation consulting services and any other required 
services related to natural gas. So, if we’re requiring him to be our consultant, we’re looking for 
him to tell us when it’s ….. 
 
MR. D’APOLITO: I just wanted to put it on record that the burden is on Buckeye and not on the 
city.   
 
MR. TIECHE: Okay.  
 
MR. GRAHAM: Could you at least monthly correspond with the city manager, whether it’s time 
or not time?  
 
MR. BELLISH:  Yes.  I can do that.  If it drops or not, it’s still nice to know. I’ll commit to doing it 
monthly.  
 
MR. TIECHE:  Okay. Thank you.  
 
MR. BELLISH: I’ll be reporting the variable prices monthly. The last week of September the 
October rate will be set.   
 
MR. DRAGISH: So, we’re always a month ahead.   
 
MR. BELLISH: It’s always like 3 days ahead.  I’ll also be updating the city on that.   
 
MR. GRAHAM: To clarify in my mind. That index I understand is variable but the margin the .256 
would be fixed for the duration of the contract.  
 
MR. BELLISH: That is correct.  That’s really the key. We’re not just letting the supplier charge 
whatever they want.  We have the formula and know to the penny what it should be.  
 
MR. D’APOLITO: Is that an industry standard that .256 or is that something that goes higher and 
lower? 



4 
 

 
MR. BELLISH: Yes, that changes.  
 
MR. D’APOLITO: Is that high or low right now, historically? 
 
MR. BELLISH: That’s probably right in the middle.  The Columbia Gas price is very high. That’s 
why this time I’m suggesting the variable. I know in the past we’ve always done the fixed.  This 
is a guaranteed savings. It’s an unusual situation, this spring, these adders were very high and 
Columbia Gas set theirs and we’re able to take advantage of the market dropping.   
 
MR. GRAHAM: Any further questions?  Hearing none.  
 
 Under BUSINESS: 
 
ITEM A:  An Ordinance Authorizing and Directing the City of Canfield to Enter Into An 
Agreement with Buckeye Energy Brokers, Inc for aggregation consulting services and any other 
required service related to natural gas utility deregulation, ratifying any such services 
heretofore performed and declaring an emergency.  
 
MR. GRAHAM: As per the provisions of Section 4.05 of the Charter of the City of Canfield, I 
move that council dispense with the requirement of two readings of the proposed Ordinance 
and authorize adoption of the same upon its first reading.  
 
MR. TIECHE: Second.  
 
   ROLL CALL ON MOTION:    4 Votes-Yes  
          0 Votes-No  
          Motion passes. 
 
MR. GRAHAM: As per the provisions of Section 4.05 of the Charter of the City of Canfield, I 
move that council dispense with the requirement of a full reading of the proposed Ordinance 
and authorize reading by title only.  
 
MR. NEFF: Second. 
 
   ROLL CALL ON MOTION:    4 Votes-Yes  
          0 Votes-No  
          Motion passes. 
 
ATTY. FORTUNATO: This is an emergency Ordinance and it will take 4 votes to pass this.   
 
MR. GRAHAM: Mr. Tieche would you read letter A. 
 



5 
 

MR. TIECHE: Mr. President, I have an Ordinance Authorizing and Directing the City of Canfield 
to Enter Into An Agreement with Buckeye Energy Brokers, Inc for aggregation consulting 
services and any other required service related to natural gas utility deregulation, ratifying any 
such services heretofore performed and declaring an emergency. I move for passage.  
 
MR. DRAGISH: Second.  
 
   ROLL CALL ON ORDINANCE:    4 Votes-Yes  
          0 Votes-No  
          Ordinance passes 
          Ordinance 2025-21. 
 
ITEM B: An Ordinance Authorizing Entering into an Agreement between the City of Canfield and 
IGS Energy for an (opt-out) natural gas aggregation program and declaring an emergency.  
 
MR. GRAHAM: As per the provisions of Section 4.05 of the Charter of the City of Canfield, I 
move that council dispense with the requirement of two readings of the proposed Ordinance 
and authorize adoption of the same upon its first reading.  
 
MR. DRAGISH: Second  
 
   ROLL CALL ON MOTION:    4 Votes-Yes  
          0 Votes-No  
          Motion passes. 
 
MR. GRAHAM: As per the provisions of Section 4.05 of the Charter of the City of Canfield, I 
move that council dispense with the requirement of a full reading of the proposed Ordinance 
and authorize reading by title only.  
 
MR. NEFF: Second.  
 
   ROLL CALL ON MOTION:    4 Votes-Yes  
          0 Votes-No  
          Motion passes. 
 
MR. NEFF: Mr. President, I have an Ordinance Authorizing Entering into an Agreement between 
the City of Canfield and IGS Energy for an (opt-out) natural gas aggregation program and 
declaring an emergency. I move for passage.  
 
MR. TIECHE: Second.  
 
   ROLL CALL ON ORDINANCE:    4 Votes-Yes  
          0 Votes-No  



6 
 

          Ordinance passes 
          Ordinance 2025-22. 
 
MR. DRAGISH: Motion to adjourn 
 
MR. TIECHE:  Second.  
 
MR. GRAHAM: We are adjourned.  
 
 
      _______________________________ 
      PRESIDENT OF COUNCIL 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________ 
CLERK OF COUNCIL   
 
 


	Agenda 
	Ordinance Sign Regulations
	Changes to the Sign Ordinance
	Ordinance Non-Conforming E. Main St. 
	Recommendation from P&Z
	Ordinance Amend Right of Way Ordinance
	Ordinance Contract for Health Services
	Contract for Health Services
	Resolution Accepting Amounts and Rates
	Resolution Assessing Properties
	Supporting documents for assessments
	Minutes Regular Meeting 8-13-25
	Minutes Special Meeting 8-19-25



